

Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes

Deliverable D5.2

Alexandra Revez¹, Christine Gaffney¹, Niall Dunphy¹, Ariadna Ramis Aguilo¹, John Morrissey², Estibaliz Sanvicente³

¹ Cleaner Production Promotion Unit, School of Engineering, University College Cork, Ireland

² Liverpool John Moores University, Liverpool, UK

³ LGI Consulting, Paris, France



http://www.entrust-h2020.eu





This project has received funding from the *European Union's Horizon 2020* research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 657998





Document Information

Grant Agreement #:	657998
Project Title:	Energy System Transition Through Stakeholder Activation, Education and Skills Development
Project Acronym:	ENTRUST
Project Start Date:	01 May 2015
Related work package:	WP5: Communities of Practice
Related task(s):	T5.3 Feedback and Reflexive analysis of Community Dialogue Outcomes
Lead Organisation:	University College Cork
Submission date:	19 December 2017
Dissemination Level:	Public

History

Date	Submitted by	Reviewed by	Version (Notes)
19 Dec 2017	Niall Dunphy (UCC)	All Partners	А





Contributors:

Dr Clodagh Harris	Senior Lecturer, Department of Government and Politics, University College Cork, Ireland.			
Dr Gerard Mullally	Lecturer, Sociology, School of Sociology, Philosophy and Criminolog University College Cork, Ireland.			
Academic Panel:				
Prof Henrike Rau	Professor of Social Geography and Sustainability Research, Department of Geography, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany.			
Dr Wesley Flannery	Lecturer, School of Natural and Built Environment, Queens University Belfast, United Kingdom.			
Dr Mary Lavelle	Lecturer, Discipline of Health Promotion, College of Medicine School of Health Sciences, National University of Ireland Galway, Ireland.			
Dr Brídín Carrol	Post-Doctoral Fellow, School of Agriculture and Food Science, University College Dublin, Ireland.			
Dr Dinali Wijeratne	Post-Doctoral Fellow, School of Business and Economics, National University of Ireland Galway, Ireland.			
Dr Paraic Ryan	Lecturer, Civil Engineering, School of Engineering, University College Cork, Ireland.			
Dr José Cortés-Vazquèz	Research Fellow, Departamento de Socioloxía e Ciencia Políticas, Universidade da Coruña, Spain.			
Prof José Manuel Mendes	Department of Sociology, Centro de Estudo Sociais, Universidade de Coimbra, Portugal.			
Prof Brian Ó Gallachóir	Professor of Energy Policy and Modelling, University College Cork, Ireland.			





Table of Contents

About the ENTRUST Project			
Execut	tive Summary7		
1 In	troduction8		
1.1	Background		
1.2	Deliverable overview		
2 Ex	opert and stakeholder engagement		
2.1	Iterative reflexive participatory process		
2.2	Description of methods		
3 Ei	nergy transitions and visions: a community level perspective		
3.1	Visions for the future: a multiple stakeholder perspective		
3.2	Analysis of transition approaches at community level		
3.3	Identified Community Innovations 27		
4 D	evelopment of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition		
4.1	Energy as a public good: towards a fair and inclusive energy sustainability model		
4.2	Principle 1: inclusive communication and engagement		
4.3	Principle 2: equity of participation		
4.4	Principle 3: monitoring and accountability		
4.5	Principle 4: future-proofing		
4.6	Principle 5: energy poverty mitigation 39		
4.7	Principle 6: precautionary approach to social and environmental impact		
4.8	Principle 7: inclusivity in energy projects 40		
4.9	Principle 8: consistency of policies 42		
4.10	Principle 9: community involvement and ownership43		
4.11	Principle 10: consumer protection 44		
4.12	Future and application of the principles in Europe: concluding comments		
5 V	iews of energy transitions at community level47		
5.1	Local awareness of initiatives promoting and opposing energy system change		
5.2	Prominence of energy efficiency in working life		
5.3	Foreseeing change		
5.4	Barriers towards implementing energy system change in the community		
5.5	Channels of communication		
5.6	A strategy for community feedback mechanisms53		
6 C	onclusion55		
7 Bi	bliography57		
Apper	dix 1: Community pathways (Addendum to Deliverable 6.3)60		
Apper	dix 2: Local stakeholder survey		





List of Figures

Figure 1: Summary of results - first round modified Delphi-panel	.21
Figure 2: Mapping six communities to 'Transition Visions'	.25
Figure 3: Barriers towards implementing energy system change (number of responses community)	by .51
Figure 4: Barriers towards implementing energy system change at community level (Overview)	. 52
Figure 5: Satisfaction with channels of communication	. 53

List of Tables

Table 1: Energy Visions and Community Transitions	24
Table 2: Summary of identified innovation priorities for each community	27
Table 3: Targeted Innovations for Stockbridge	28
Table 4: Targeted Innovations for Le Trapèze	28
Table 5: Targeted Innovations for Secondigliano	29
Table 6: Targeted Innovations for Dunmanway	30
Table 7: Targeted Innovations for Gràcia	31
Table 8: Targeted Innovations for University student cohort	32
Table 9: Principle 1 – Summary of expert feedback	34
Table 10: Principle 2 – Summary of expert feedback	36
Table 11: Principle 3 – Summary of expert feedback	37
Table 12: Principle 4 – Summary of expert feedback	38
Table 13: Principle 5 – Summary of expert feedback	39
Table 14: Principle 6 – Summary of expert feedback	40
Table 15: Principle 7 – Summary of expert feedback	42
Table 16: Principle 8 – Summary of expert feedback	42
Table 17: Principle 9 – Summary of expert feedback	44
Table 18: Principle 10 – Summary of expert feedback	45
Table 19: Awareness of initiatives promoting and opposing energy system change	47
Table 20: Summary of results pertaining to prominence of energy issues for stakeholders	48
Table 21: Summary of results pertaining to prominence of energy issues for clients	49





About the ENTRUST Project

ENTRUST is mapping Europe's energy system (key actors and their intersections, technologies, markets, policies, innovations) and aims to achieve an in-depth understanding of how human behaviour around energy is shaped by both technological systems and socio-demographic factors (especially gender, age and socio-economic status). New understandings of energy-related practices and an intersectional approach to the socio-demographic factors in energy use will be deployed to enhance stakeholder engagement in Europe's energy transition.

The role of gender will be illuminated by intersectional analyses of energy-related behaviour and attitudes towards energy technologies, which will assess how multiple identities and social positions combine to shape practices. These analyses will be integrated within a transitions management framework, which takes account of the complex meshing of human values and identities with technological systems. The third key paradigm informing the research is the concept of energy citizenship, with a key goal of ENTRUST being to enable individuals to overcome barriers of gender, age and socio-economic status to become active participants in their own energy transitions.

Central to the project will be an in-depth engagement with five very different communities across Europe that will be invited to be co-designers of their own energy transition. The consortium brings a diverse array of expertise to bear in assisting and reflexively monitoring these communities as they work to transform their energy behaviours, generating innovative transition pathways and business models capable of being replicated elsewhere in Europe.

For more information see http://www.entrust-h2020.eu

Project Partners:



University College Cork, Ireland - Cleaner Production Promotion Unit (Coordinator) - Institute for Social Science in 21st Century



Integrated Environmental Solutions Ltd., UK



Liverpool John Moores University, UK



LGI Consulting, France



Redinn srl, Italy



Stam srl, Italy

Coordinator Contact:

Niall Dunphy, Director, Cleaner Production Promotion Unit, University College Cork, Ireland t: + 353 21 490 2521 | e: n.dunphy@ucc.ie | w: www.ucc.ie/cppu





Executive Summary

Finding alternative energy sources and transition pathways toward a more sustainable energy future is proving to be essential not just in terms of addressing dwindling fossil fuel reserves but also because current energy practices have caused unsustainable damage to the environment and the earth's atmosphere (Chilvers & Longhurst 2016). However, this process of transition has been negligent in overcoming the many obstacles that have considerably stalled and delayed a substantial decarbonisation of the energy system (Grübler 2012). One of the areas that has been relatively underdeveloped in current debates about energy transitions relates to energy system governance and the potential implications for the way in which transitions can considerably change the way in which energy is managed as a public good (Chilvers & Longhurst 2016). In fact, recent research broadens this debate by suggesting that energy demand systems are more influential for leading transitions than energy supply systems (Grübler 2012). These new paradigms have turned conventional understandings of energy system change on its head. As common assumptions were based on the notion that large scale energy supply systems were the main driver of energy transitions. Furthermore, in terms of working towards a vision of energy sustainability, equity has come to represent one of the core pillars for achieving sustainability in consonance with environmental and economic sustainability (Ringrose 2017). Understanding and meditating end-user needs and requirements is therefore a critical component of a successful energy transition towards a more sustainable future.

The work presented in this document focuses on providing a detailed report of expert and stakeholder engagements carried out with respect to the community dialogue outcomes. The thematic focus of the report concentrates in particular on energy transitions. From this particular perspective, this deliverable combines with T6.1 and T6.3 to provide a summary and critical overview of the feasibility of suites of collated transition pathways. Community capacities to achieve carbon reductions are further assessed using the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways Framework. These insights are developed through enhanced views of transition pathways for the community of practice in Gràcia, Spain and a University student cohort in Ireland.

A key component of the work produced for this report relates to the development and implementation of two distinct data collection instruments. Firstly, using a modified Delphi-panel to develop a set of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition in Europe. Drawing down initially from key findings from WP 3, 5 and 6 key principles based on areas of concern highlighted at community level. These principles were refined and validated through the modified Delphi-panel process, which relied on key inputs from a panel of academic experts. Secondly, to augment this iterative process of community engagements, surveys were conducted with local stakeholders to capture information in order to promote energy system change at community level. These surveys draw on insights from five distinct communities across Europe and offer a range of findings pertaining to how energy system change is perceived at local level and potential barriers for promoting further transitions.

Finally, a strategy which highlights a range of feedback mechanism with the communities that have been centre stage in the work carried out by ENTRUST is forwarded, which highlights the need for a 'conscientisation' strategy (after Freire 1970) that seeks to foster deeper dialogue with communities.





Introduction 1

1.1 Background

ENTRUST is examining the human factor in the energy system, and is dedicated to providing an in-depth understanding of how human behaviour around energy is shaped by both technological systems and sociodemographic factors. Work Package 5 is focussed on the engagement with the communities that provide the real-world environment for the empirical research elements of the project. This deliverable documents the collection of specific expert views on the results emerging from these dialogues. This was primarily achieved through use of a modified Delphi panel technique (augmented by mini-surveys with professionals in the communities).

Any research project that has at its core focus an exploration of human behaviours and human practices is inevitably complex – this is because not only is human behaviour complex, but so are the socio-cultural systems in which they evolve. Investigating the human factor in the energy system is inevitably more complex again because the energy system also shares the qualities of being multi-aspected and multi-faceted, and is itself intermeshed with the aforementioned human socio-cultural system with which it has evolved. Both human society and the energy system have evolved simultaneously, to a significant degree, by means of, and in conjunction with, people's energy practices – in the broadest sense, ranging from infrastructural to domestic practices, as well as the political, technical, policy, and regulatory landscapes that frame and contribute to their development. Successfully engaging with communities requires a contextual understanding of their complexity.

A central aim of the project was the production of intersectional socio-demographic analyses of energy practices and attitudes within the communities. In the course of conducting this work, meaningful engagement with these communities has been achieved, and continues to be achieved, by means of an iterative reflexive participatory process. This process, which is explained in more detail below, delivers on the project's aim to provide an in-depth understanding of how human behaviour around energy is shaped by both technological systems and socio-demographic factors.

Importantly, the iterative reflexive participatory process captures the core methodological considerations which are implicated by the centrality of intersectionality to the conduct of the research. As explored in the project's previously released socio-demographic analyses¹ the concept of intersectionality, its import, and its operationalisation as both research paradigm and conceptual tool of analysis, as well as for the conduct of the research process, has been key to developing understanding of the aforementioned human factor in the energy system. Embedding intersectionality, and all it entails, within the methodology and research processes, including significantly, the iterative reflexive participatory process has created the conditions that have facilitated the production and re-production of the community dialogues that have developed over the duration of the project. These dialogues, described in previously released D5.1 'Report on Community Dialogues' (Gaffney et al. 2017), have also been reflected in the visioning of the pathways presented in D6.1

¹ D3.2 'Intersectional Analysis of Energy Practices' (Dunphy, Revez, Gaffney, Lennon, Ramis Aguilo, et al. 2017), D3.3 'Intersectional Analysis of Perceptions and Attitudes Towards Energy Technologies' (Dunphy, Revez, Gaffney & Lennon 2017), and D3.4 'Synthesis of socio-economic, technical, market and policy analyses' (Dunphy, Revez, Gaffney, Lennon, Sanvicente, et al. 2017).



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



'Energy system visioning and low-carbon configurations' (Morrissey, Axon, Aiesha, et al. 2017), and in D6.3 'Innovation Pathways to Transition' (Morrissey, Axon, Hillman, et al. 2017).

In brief, an iterative reflexive participatory process captures the key requirements for successfully engaging with communities, ideally incorporating intersectionality as a guiding concept - particularly in terms of gender amongst other socio-demographic positions. This process provides the means for developing understanding of energy practices and attitudes towards the energy system amongst a diverse population within those communities, and for collaboratively developing potential transition pathways to a sustainable energy system. Clearly, reflexivity is a required activity across all aspects of the research process, for researchers and participants alike, and is integral to the successful development of both the intersectional analyses, and the conduct of the iterative participatory process.

One of the significant advantages that the approach to community engagements that ENTRUST has brought is that it allows for the emergence of a broad and varied range of perspectives on how people live with the energy system, and how they would like to see it transition. Recognising that people are the experts on their own lives, on how they live their lives, and on the everyday practices that subtend and enable the living of those lives, and integrating that awareness into the iterative reflexive participatory process has allowed the development of a range of pathways for transition that integrate the participants' perspectives and input at all stages of their development, enhancing outcomes.

1.2 Deliverable overview

This deliverable provides a detailed report of expert stakeholder engagements carried out with respect to community dialogue outcomes thus far. Particular attention is given to energy transitions. This theme links this deliverable, with complementary work in WP6 and provides a summary and critical overview of the feasibility of suites of collated transition pathways. Community capacities to achieve carbon reductions are further assessed using the Shared Socio-economic Pathways Framework (see Bauer et al. 2017). These insights are developed through an enhanced view of transition pathways for the communities.

Progressively developing the reflexive participatory process in order to garner further expert feedback, two bespoke elements that have been produced for this task, the modified Delphi-panel, and the community stakeholder survey have been created – effectively augmenting the reflexive iterative participatory process. It is intended that the results of this iterative phase will be "fed back" to the communities of practice for their consideration.

The mini survey participants are located in five of the communities of practice – Dunmanway, Cork (IE); Gràcia, Barcelona (ES); Le Trapèze, Paris (FR); University students (IE); and Stockbridge, Merseyside (UK). There are slightly more female participants than male, and they come from a diverse range of areas of expertise including: architecture, construction, education, energy sector, engineering, environment, farming, finance and banking, health, hospitality, insurance, legal sector, manufacturing, property development, politics, real estate, research, retail, third sector, and the trades.

The modified Delphi-panel participants are composed of a panel of academic experts based in five jurisdictions – Germany, Ireland, Portugal, Spain, and the UK; men outnumber women by just one, and they



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



practice in a range of diverse disciplines including: civil engineering, economics, geography, health, planning, and sociology. These two methods, their development, and their deployment are described in Section 2.

In Section 3, building on previous research carried out for Deliverables 6.1 and 6.3, this report identifies a range of community energy innovation priorities. Offering a reflexive summary and discussion of the main findings from the two deliverables, the report expands on these by integrating further insights from communities of practice in response to those findings. The outcome of this process is the development of customised energy-policy recommendations which includes a collaborative and community based consideration of socio-demographically differentiated impacts, economics and governance, technological and environmental resources, and overarching policy context. The focus on transition in this section is broadranging, encompassing not just technology but also examining transition in terms of ideas and governance providing a multi-dimensional view of change.

Guided by the community engagement outcomes, the major contribution of this report has been the development of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition in Europe. The principles have been iteratively developed from reflexive engagement with the core findings of Work Packages 3 and 6. The principles that emerged from the community dialogues generated by the engagement processes were further refined and validated using the modified Delphi-panel that was developed. Integrating the feedback and observations offered by the interdisciplinary panel of academic experts, the final iteration of the principles offered in Section 4 are the result of academic debate and consensus over how best to achieve equality and inclusion in terms of energy transition in Europe.

2 Expert and stakeholder engagement

An iterative reflexive participatory process captures the key requirements for successfully engaging with communities. This process provides the means for developing understanding of energy practices and attitudes towards the energy system within those communities and for collaboratively developing potential transition pathways to a sustainable energy system. Below, the bespoke methods developed as part of this process to fulfil the requirements for this task, T5.3, are explored in detail. Prior to this exploration, we elaborate on the overall iterative reflexive participatory process, which the methods feed into.

2.1 Iterative reflexive participatory process

As outlined in the Description of Action (DoA), we are assessing the feasibility of suites of collated transitions pathways as well as the capacity to achieve carbon reduction targets by means of an iterative reflexive participatory process at the community level. In D5.1 the Participatory Action Research (PAR) approach to research and its benefits are outlined. The iterative reflexive participatory process is inherently PAR oriented. Here we explore the iterative reflexive participatory process, the benefit of bringing that approach to community research and the detail of the process implementation.

In order to signpost and position the process within the overall context of the project the phrase 'iterative reflexive participatory process' is 'unpacked' here and the meaning and import of each of the significant elements of this process and their interconnectedness, are explained here.



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



Within qualitative research, an iterative process involves repetition with the intention of developing insight into a particular area of interest. However, while iteration involves repetition, it is more than mere repetition – it is a developmental process where there is enhancement, refinement and evolution of understanding and meaning with each iteration. Within the social sciences and particularly in relation to data analysis, iteration is conceptualised as being inherently reflexive – Srivastava and Hopwood describe the role of iteration as a "reflexive process" that is "key to sparking insight and developing meaning" (Srivastava & Hopwood 2009, p.76). Essential to this enhancement and refinement during the iterative process is the foregrounding of a thoroughgoing 'reflexivity'.

Reflexivity involves reflection – again, it is more than mere reflection – it is a process of critical reflection that involves the researcher(s) interrogating their own 'paradigm', that is, their belief-system or world-view including their ontological and epistemological concepts. For Bordieu, "reflexivity is a precondition of any adequate sociology" (Outhwaite 1999, p.15). Reflexivity has "etymological roots in self-reflection and critical self-reflection" with links to "critical theory, standpoint theory, textual deconstruction and sociologies and anthropologies of knowledge, power and agency" (Macbeth 2001, p.36). The requirement for reflexivity is central to the entire process of community engagement and extends beyond researcher self-reflexivity across the entire research process, including data analysis and is a crucial method for validating the research findings. Reflexivity is also an important requirement of the participatory element of the overall process ranging from considerations concerning participant selection, participant engagement and the operation of the process itself.

The practice of reflexivity is also crucial for the participants themselves and the research design and process – including the method choice – facilitate the development of this. The reflexive iterative participatory process operates as a series of feedback loops between researchers, researchers and participants, participants and participants and researchers. "Reflexive iteration is at the heart of visiting and revisiting the data and connecting them with emerging insights, progressively leading to refined focus and understandings" (Srivastava & Hopwood 2009).

The participatory element of the research process respects the 'bottom up' approach detailed in the DoA and is vital for the successful realisation of the aim to develop insight into the 'human factor' in the energy system. The ethos of participatory research rejects a positivist paradigm and claims of the possibility of absolute objectivity that may be entailed therein. In contrast to such research approaches that relegate participants to the role of 'subject' of inquiry, participatory research includes participants as co-creators of knowledge. Participatory research is focussed "on a process of sequential reflection and action, carried out with and by local people rather than on them. Local knowledge and perspectives are not only acknowledged but form the basis for research and planning" (Cornwall & Jewkes 1995, p.1667).

2.1.1 Benefits that the Reflexive Iterative Participatory Approach brings to community research.

An iterative reflexive participatory process is an approach to research that is fundamental for action research and process-oriented approaches to sustainability transition management (Wittmayer & Schäpke 2014). As detailed below, the reflexive iterative participatory process extended across all elements of the ENTRUST project, including all aspects of the community engagements – ranging from the development of the



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



engagement methodologies, the approaches to participant recruitment, the conduct of the engagements and the analyses of the dialogues produced by those engagements.

A constant iterative feedback loop has been maintained over the duration of the project research ensuring that findings from the initial reflexive analyses of the data coming from early interviews went on to inform subsequent community engagements. The data and themes that emerged from these subsequent engagements were incorporated into and informed new analyses, as well as being integrated into the ongoing analyses of the earlier engagements thus allowing the themes to evolve and to reflect the contributions and insights from the participating communities of engagement. The reflexive iterative participatory process also provides the means for validating the research findings within the communities of practice themselves throughout all stages of the engagement process.

In addition to their primary purpose of data gathering, the data produced by means of quantitative methods, the ENTRUST Time-Use Survey (D3.2: Appendix 5) and the ENTRUST Energy Technologies Survey (D3.3: Appendix 5), were also utilised as supplementary measures to compare and contrast with the themes and analyses emerging from the reflexive analysis of the on-going community dialogues – thereby demonstrating the robustness and integrity of the iterative reflexive process. The maintenance of a persistent reflexive stance on the part of the research team and the constant attention to the participation and contributions of community members provides better research outcomes that properly reflects community views and also provides a better opportunity to explore issues that may have been unforeseen by the research team during the early stages of the project.

Maintaining ongoing relationships with participants from the communities of practice is essential for ensuring that the iterative reflexive participatory process is sustained. The respectful and ethical, approach towards engaging with the communities of practice that the research team brought to the research process was vital for the successful delivery of this process. Building on community and professional connections, personal networks, as well as face to face, on the street enrolment of participants, the research teams developed the trust with participants which was vital for producing successful community dialogues capable of generating the rich data which was necessary for the substantial analyses that have been produced by ENTRUST. Engaging with community members in a respectful and mindful manner also encouraged their fullest participation in the research process which, facilitated by the research methodology and design, provided the 'thick', 'rich', data which is a pre-condition for meaningful analysis.

Below, the reflexive iterative participatory process is set out in a series of consecutive stages. While these stages are presented as discrete, in practice there can be a significant degree of overlap between some of the stages. And even if not necessarily made explicit in each step of the stages as set out - researcherreflexivity was central to each and every stage of the process.

2.1.2 Stages of the iterative reflexive participatory process

1) In the ENTRUST Description of Action three key socio-demographic criteria are identified as important for investigating the 'human factor' in the energy system – gender, age and socio-economic privilege. Issues and key criteria identified.



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



2) D3.1 Initial mapping of available socio-demographic data on energy practices maps and characterising the available datasets and research that provide information on the socio-demographic aspects that are significant for energy practices. The review of the literature affirms the particular relevance of gender, age and socio-economic privilege for energy consumption thus confirming the appropriateness of using those criteria as key attributes to be considered for the participant selection process. Literature review - key criteria confirmed.

3) Development of the methodology including discussion and analysis of key conceptual understandings and interrogation of the particularities of the research paradigm amongst the research team, including epistemological and ontological considerations. Exploration and assessment of alternative methods for engaging with participants. Reflexive iterative development of research paradigm, methodology and methods.

4) Selection of communities to conform to the criteria set out in the DoA. A reflexive approach was maintained toward participant recruitment within those communities in order to ensure that the requirements for considerations of intersectionality were incorporated into the participant selection process. Facilitating the observation of these requirements, workshops were held for the research partners to develop understanding about research criteria and processes, including explorations of reflexivity and intersectionality, in particular. Reflexive participant selection.

5) Development of the semi-structure interview question schedule by means of a reflexive iterative process amongst the researchers. Questions were specifically designed to encourage participant reflexivity and to facilitate expansive contributions from participants. Reflexive iterative development of interview schedule.

6) Initial meeting with gatekeeper and community members to outline project goals and receive feedback from participants on approach. Reflexive iterative participatory engagement.

7) Further revision of the interview schedule in light of gatekeeper and participant feedback. Reflexive iterative development of interview schedule.

8) Semi-structured interviews conducted across all communities. Particular attention paid to the conduct of the interview: attentive and respectful attitude of interviewer, including attention to details such as 'active listening', 'open' stance of interviewer, empathic and encouraging affirmations of interest in participant narratives. Reflexive iterative participatory conduct of interviews.

9) Review of interview recordings and commencement of process of transcribing, coding and developing key themes including identifying issues of particular significance for each community. Based on participant narratives, development of themes to inform community workshop schedule. Reflexive discussion of themes and issues - identifying commonalities and differences amongst and between communities and amongst and between different socio-demographic groups. Reflexive iterative analysis of narratives.

10) Community workshops in the form of focus groups conducted across all communities. Particular attention paid to the conduct of the focus groups: attentive and respectful attitude of facilitators, ensuring full participation by all participants, with particular attention paid to gender inclusivity and encouragement for





the expression of the range of opinions and experiences from all participants. Reflexive iterative participatory conduct of community workshops.

11) Review of workshop recordings as well as transcribing the recordings, integrating the dialogues into the coding and building on the existing key themes. Reflexive discussion of ongoing evolution of findings integrating the workshop participants' further insights and perspectives into the analysis and further clarifying issues of particular significance for each community. Utilisation of quantitative surveys as a supplementary measure to assess the robustness of the themes and analyses emerging from the reflexive analysis of the community dialogues. Reflexive iterative analysis of workshop discussions.

12) Holding of mini-publics in the form of the 'citizen jury'. Citizen juries are designed to facilitate the active participation of community members in decision-making processes about the significant social issues affecting their communities. Topics of discussion are informed by the future oriented findings produced from the community workshops and from the analysis of the previous community engagements. The citizen jury incorporates an interactive reflexive process amongst participants. Community members are shown brief expert presentations before having facilitated in-depth discussions in small groups, before coming together to envision the future of the energy system in their community. Reflexive iterative participatory conduct of citizen juries.

13) Reflexive review of the participant discussions and future oriented 'imaginings' produced from the citizen juries in the communities and incorporating those community discussions, explorations and future-visioning across a range of tasks as outlined in the DoA. Reflexive iterative analysis of citizen jury discussion and envisioning of energy future.

14) The findings and analyses produced from the breadth of community engagements will be incorporated across a number of key outputs from ENTRUST, including being incorporated as content contributions for the project's Knowledge Platform. The reflexive iterative participatory process with the communities of practice is ongoing, with future engagements with the communities planned to provide further opportunities to feedback to the communities on the key issues and findings that emerged from the analyses of the community and expert dialogues. This feedback will incorporate the outcomes from the two survey instruments used for this task T5.3 – The modified Delphi-panel and the Local Stakeholder Survey – as outlined below. Ongoing reflexive iterative participatory process.

2.2 Description of methods

Completion of task 5.3 entailed a number of additional engagements with experts and community stakeholders, which have not been previously described and recounted in Deliverable 5.1. These engagements represent a supplementary layer of research which required the development of specific methods and resulted in added empirical insights. In this context, the ENTRUST team developed a survey instrument which sought to target local community stakeholders. The modified Delphi-panel was another supplementary academic expert engagement, which required a defined strategy of recruitment, survey materials and feedback mechanisms. The methods used for these supplementary engagements are outlined in following sections.





2.2.1 Mini survey: Informative tool for descriptive applied research

ENTRUST has taken a mixed-methods approach to investigating the human factor in the energy system which involves the collection, analyses, and integration of both quantitative and qualitative data. Clearly, given the topic and nature of the investigation, and the type of data that is required for the in-depth analyses of the broad spectrum of people's engagement with the energy system, the primary methodological approach to the investigation is qualitative. However, a limited number of bespoke quantitative instruments have also been developed and used during the iterative research process, and integrated into the research findings.

In D3.3 Intersectional analysis of perceptions and attitudes towards energy technologies (Dunphy, Revez, Gaffney & Lennon 2017) the benefits of using the quantitative method of the 'survey' as a useful component in our suite of methods are explored. The survey is a form of empirical research that is used to "look at" an area of research interest, and it is a research strategy that can be used with a range of data collection methods. Groves et al. (2009, p.2) describe a survey as "a systematic method for gathering information from (a sample) of entities for the purpose of constructing quantitative descriptors of the attributes of the larger population of which the entities as members". The survey utilises a questionnaire as its basic tool, the purpose of which is to administer a standardised survey across all subjects, which entails asking the questions in the same way to different respondents.

The 'mini survey' is a small survey with a typical sample size of between 20 and 80 respondents and it is particularly useful in applied and/or policy research (Finsterbusch 1976, p.117). Finsterbusch suggests five different uses for mini surveys: (a) to provide the same type of information as large surveys, but with wider margins of error; (b) to assess the accuracy of expert opinion; (c) to assess the applicability of broader findings to a particular case; (d) to pilot a larger study or to investigate/explain some of the results from one; (e) to convert the "survey into a dynamic research instrument" (Finsterbusch 1976, p.118).

The primary limitations to small surveys – that they cannot support complex multi-variate analyses, and their wide margin of error on point estimates (Finsterbusch 1976, pp.124–125) – do not limit their usefulness with regard to their purpose within the ENTRUST research process. While there are limits to the applicability of results from mini-surveys, nevertheless, as Finsterbusch (1976, p.124) points out, they "should be highly useful for much applied research which is more descriptive than analytical".

The mini survey that was developed for the production of this report: "Stakeholder views of energy transitions at community level", has been designed as an element of the iterative participatory research process engaging with a range of energy system actors within the community setting; and the results and findings developed through the analyses of the data generated from the broad expanse of community engagements are being fed back to the communities of practice. With reference to Finsterbusch's five suggested uses listed above, while the purposes of the survey under discussion do not discretely map solely onto one of his uses, instead it can be demonstrated that they are in sympathy with the broad thrust of his suggestions, namely that the survey: (a) provides the same type of information as large surveys, moreover for this survey, the size of the margin of error is irrelevant as the it is not claimed to be, nor is it intended to be, in any way statistically applicable to the population demographics of the communities; (b) is used to assess expert opinion, which is contrasted with the findings from other engagements, and which will inform



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



the feedback to the community. Bringing together the significant elements from the final three suggested uses, (c), (d) and (e), it can be said that the survey is being utilised as part of the assessment of the broader findings from within the larger datasets produced by the research process as part of the inherently dynamic reflexive iterative participatory process.

Mini survey administration: Participant recruitment

Surveys can be administered in a number of ways. The 'self-administered' survey includes the traditional pen and paper survey, usually filled in by the participant with the researcher present; the postal survey filled out by the participant alone; and the online survey. Surveys can also be conducted in person, either as a face-toface structured interview, or as a telephone survey. Recruiting community members to participate in any form of empirical research can pose significant challenges. A number of strategies were employed to recruit participants with varying levels of success.

The survey was created and published online using a dedicated survey website to host it. Using internet resources, key stakeholders were identified in each community and a database was created. Personalised emails were sent to the stakeholders informing them about the project, and including the link to the online survey. However, the response rate from this approach was negligible, for example, in Dunmanway out of approximately 70 personalised email invitations to participate, only four people filled in the survey. These significant lacunae in survey take-up was replicated across the rest of the communities who were invited to participate. Given the very low response rate across the communities it was decided to take a more 'handson' approach to participant recruitment, and so members of the research teams went out into the community with print outs of the survey and 'door-stepped' a range of key stakeholders. This approach was more successful and generated a sufficient number of participants to fulfil the criteria for a 'mini survey'.

2.2.2 *Delphi-panel: Origins and rationale: a consensus oriented tool*

Qualitative research goes hand in hand with the progression of social and political thinking (Gerring 2017). For instance, ground-breaking developments in relation to perspectives on gender and social class relations owe much to insights captured through qualitative research. Qualitative methodologies have substantially improved and developed over the years and new and promising methods of inquiry are emerging regularly. The Delphi-panel is, in comparative terms, a relatively novel qualitative technique that was originally developed by Dalkey and Helmer (1963) on behalf of the RAND corporation (Hsu & Sandford 2007). This technique is increasingly becoming utilised in disparate areas of research from policy development, needs assessments, health treatments and energy transitions visioning. However, compared to other more traditional and established qualitative research techniques such as interviews, case studies and focus groups this technique is still relatively under-utilised (Avella 2016). The Delphi-panel in general terms can be described as a technique, which captures group information through a series of rounds, where group members remain anonymous to each other.

A key component of the Delphi-panel is that it enables and promotes a process of consensus amongst the research participants through an iterative process based on anonymous dialogue between different participants (Eubank et al. 2016). This form of qualitative inquiry is particularly relevant in areas of research that are extremely complex, or where there is a degree of uncertainty. It is also beneficial in research areas



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



where disagreement is a predominant obstacle for further developments or in cutting edge fields of study where there is little information available (Avella, 2016). The design and process of the Delphi-panel, which is typically based on a series of rounds, makes it possible to feedback preliminary findings to the respondents and in this manner, it encourages respondents to reflect on their initial perspectives based on these findings (Hsu & Sandford 2007).

While other methods such as focus groups or group interviews have the potential for generating new forms of knowledge through interaction with other participants, there are common limitations emerging from face-to-face group dynamics. These limitations include facilitation issues in terms of providing an inclusive space where all participant voices are heard, dealing with dominant elements within the group that either intimidate or coerce other group members and overcoming potential participant reserve in sharing ideas in a public space (Avella 2016). The anonymity afforded by the Delphi-panel process is therefore a way of generating new knowledge and promoting reflexivity through engagement with other participant's opinions while at the same time maintaining a degree of privacy, which overcomes these group dynamic obstacles, often associated with the more public research spaces where focus groups and group interviews take place.

The process of consensus involved in the Delphi-panel has a number of characteristics. In the first instance, this process usually does not refer to absolute agreement among all the respondents but instead refers to a pre-established agreement rate, usually between 50% to 70% (Avella 2016). Secondly, the feedback loop which is a critical component enabled by the staged way in which surveys, questionnaires or other forms of data mining are delivered in the Delphi-panel, allows for a gradual paring down of agreed upon items and those that are least agreed on (*ibid*.). This feedback component also helps participants consider other positions and re-evaluate their own views based on these. This process usually leads to greater consensus rates among respondents taking part in the Delphi-panel process (Hsu & Sandford 2007). Understanding the overall position of different respondents in relation to a particular theme and reassessing underlying rationale based on this feedback is an important way of achieving agreement amongst a group of people. This is a valuable aspect that is offered by the Delphi-panel method and while different versions of the Delphi-panel technique exist such as the modified Delphi-panel method it invariably leverages this consensus making process through the use of feedback loops.

The Delphi-panel is thus a useful technique, which helps improve decision-making and knowledge development in a number of ways. The consensus building process can overcome particular deadlocks where no progress is made due to lack of agreement over a particular issue. It can also generate new forms of knowledge through feedback loops which encourage dialogue among the Panel members. Finally, the consensus process itself makes it possible to identify areas of considerable agreement and disagreement over given statements and ideas which greatly validate emerging Delphi-panel findings.

Design overview

The ENTRUST project used a modified Delphi-panel design which differs slightly from the original Delphipanel technique. The modified Delphi-panel usually means that initial materials for panel discussion are developed and put together ahead of the initial stages of consultation with the panel members (Avella 2016). The modified Delphi-panel technique is less restrictive and provides a degree of flexibility in terms of follow





up rounds based on either a face-to-face wrap-up discussion or an extension of the initial scope of the panel through additional engagements.

The theme for the ENTRUST project entitled: 'The Development of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition' was identified and developed prior to the panel consensus led process. The idea was instead informed by the grounded analysis of field research conducted by the ENTRUST team across Europe for Work Package 3 and Work Package 5, whereby community perspectives and experiences with the energy system and changes therein were explored (Dunphy, Revez, Gaffney & Lennon 2017; Dunphy, Revez, Gaffney, Lennon, Ramis Aguilo, *et al.* 2017). A range of gaps and concerns relating to inclusivity and fairness emerged from this research and the notion of creation of principles to address some of these issues was identified by the ENTRUST team as a valuable mechanism.

Nine principles were initially developed and piloted internally with two ENTRUST energy sustainability experts. Principles are useful ways for establishing common standards relating to matters, which are usually complex and require guidance with respect to the development of formal and informal governance systems, laws and behavioural norms (UN Global Compact 2016). The key aim of this Delphi-panel was to reach interdisciplinary consensus amongst academic experts from different areas with regards these core principles to help support a fair and inclusive energy transition pathway in Europe. The initial nine principles are outlined in Box 1 below.





Initial Principles included in round 1 of the modified Delphi-panel

Principle 1

All institutions promoting energy transitions should establish well devised channels of communication, social engagement and inclusive dialogue.

Principle 2

All civic spaces involved in energy system transition dialogues should strive for equality in terms of gender, age, social background and socio-economic status (e.g. consultation campaigns, establishment of local committees, etc.)

• Principle 3

Accountability mechanisms should be included in all new energy projects, which include regular evaluation of citizen complaints and feedback from energy users.

• Principle 4

All new energy production and consumption projects and policies should be future proofed.

• Principle 5

Energy poverty mitigation strategies should be integrated into new energy projects

• Principle 6

All energy projects should adopt a precautionary approach in terms of possible social and environmental harms.

• Principle 7

Citizen inputs should be solicited using inclusive participatory procedures and integrated into the process of development and implementation of energy projects

Principle 8

To ensure against unfair impositions on the public, energy behaviour change policies should strive to be consistent and coherent with short and long-term adaptability strategies.

Principle 9

Local impact of large scale energy generation projects should be offset by deepening local social application of social dividends and community ownership

Box 1: Initial Principles included in modified Delphi-panel Round 1

Selection for the academic panel was based on a range of pre-established criteria. Panel membership was limited to academic participants. The underlying objective was to put together a panel of academic experts from different disciplinary backgrounds to test whether the panel could achieve a degree of consensus around a selection of core principles for the development of a fair and inclusive energy system. There was an interdisciplinary focus therefore in the panel selection and recruitment process. Furthermore, the recruitment process also focused on identifying academics, which represented in broader terms different branches of science. Namely, a diversity of academics deriving from applied science and social science backgrounds. Arguably, it is possible to achieve interdisciplinarity within one of these branches of science alone. However, energy transition studies are inherently complex fields of research, which extend towards



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



all branches of science and therefore the recruitment process included an effort to secure representation within the panel of academics from different branches of research.

Another important factor in the recruitment of academic participants was to establish an appropriate level of academic expertise and engagement with energy system sustainability and transitions research for comment on these principles. Because this area of research can be complex and very broad it is relevant to include perspectives which are at face value more marginal to the theme of energy sustainability. There are often associations made in relation to energy as a field of scientific research, which might include some disciplines and not others. In fact, it is arguably the case that disciplines from an applied science background usually dominate the field of energy system research. However, the central theme for this Delphi-panel focused on the development of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition, necessitates the involvement of a broader range of perspectives from the onset. Therefore, a purposive sampling strategy was used which selected academic participants in terms of diversity of academic background not just in terms of discipline but also in terms of wider academic fields embracing both applied sciences and social sciences. Indeed, some of the participants were selected for their expertise in fields of research, which are peripheral yet very relevant in terms of energy sustainability. For instance, expertise on conservation policy, food sustainability, human rights law. While these are not niche fields of expertise dedicated solely to energy sustainability, they do bring an added understanding of how energy interacts with other social and environmental dimensions that were deemed essential for the critical development of these principles. Fifteen academics were initially selected and contacted to take part in the Delphi-panel Survey. A brief invitation email was sent out to these pre-selected participants. This invitation had a response rate of 67% with ten out of the fifteen pre-selected participants agreeing to take part in the survey. The final interdisciplinary panel was composed of academics from different backgrounds that included Civil Engineering, Geography, Social Anthropology, Sociology, Health Promotion and Economics.

The panel process itself consisted of two survey rounds, which were conducted through email. As shown in Box 1 above, the first round of the survey outlined nine core principles. Panel respondents were asked to consider each principle individually and were given three basic criteria to assess these on the basis of: agree, disagree or re-frame. Panel members were also encouraged to provide brief commentary on each specific choice. Additionally, a final section of the survey offered the option to recommend alternative principles or to include further comments regarding the survey and/or the theme of energy transitions. The response rate for the first round of the survey was 90% and nine out of the ten participants who agreed to take part in the survey completed the task. There were however two late responses which were not included in the second round of the survey but whose comments are addressed in this report.

In general, the innovative component of the Delphi-panel in terms of design is that the findings from the first round are not merely used as a stand-alone source of information but are also used to re-shape the subsequent rounds of the Delphi-panel. These rounds work as feedback loops which provide information to the participants and outline areas of agreement or disagreement. The ENTRUST Delphi-panel used two iterations of the survey. The second ENTRUST Delphi-panel survey provided the feedback component. Based on an overview of the information in the survey, the second iteration entailed a re-framing and re-wording of the nine initial principles. The panel was asked to consider these alterations and re-evaluate their position.





Again, panel respondents were asked to review each principle individually and were given three basic criteria to assess these based on: agree, disagree or re-frame. A brief summary of the findings was provided at the start of the survey and participants were asked to re-evaluate their position based on these.

Round 2 method adjustments

Largely, the first round of the survey showed that there was considerable agreement amongst most academics concerning the general ideas proposed in the nine principles offered. However, there were some issues identified in terms of the manner in which some of the principles were worded. Either because they lacked clarity or were slightly incomplete and required additional information. **Error! Reference source not found.** below illustrates the varied opinions offered in relation to the principles initially suggested.



Figure 1: Summary of results - first round modified Delphi-panel

Principles 1, 5 and 6 were agreed by all participants. Principles 2, 3, 4, 7, 8 and 9 were flagged as needing further re-framing. Two participants disagreed with principle 9. One participant also suggested an additional principle which was added to the second-round survey for appraisal by all the panel members. Based on the results slight alterations were made to some of the principles. These alterations included: Re-framing of principles 2, 3, 4, 7, 8 and 9; Review of position on principle 9; Suggestion for an additional principle 10. Box 2 below offers a list of the re-framed principles which were included in the second round of the survey for re-evaluation.





Re-framed Principles (round 2)

• Principle 2 (re-worded)

All civic and public spaces involved in energy system transition dialogues should provide a stage for participation based on equality in terms of gender, social background and socio-economic status.

Principle 3 (re-worded)

Accountability and monitoring mechanisms should be included in all new energy projects, which include regular evaluation of citizen complaints, feedback from energy users and regular reports that demonstrate how citizen complaints and comments have been addressed.

• Principle 4 (re-worded)

All new energy production and consumption projects and policies should be future proofed. This evaluation must include a strategy to address any expected shortcomings or impacts as well as have a long-term feasibility strategy

• Principle 7 (re-worded)

Citizen inputs should be solicited using inclusive participatory procedures, integrated into the process of initial conception, planning, development and implementation of energy projects

Principle 8 (re-worded)

Policies seeking to reduce or change end-user energy practices should strive to be consistent and coherent with existing structural and social conditions as well as adequately linked to short and long-term adaptability strategies.

Principle 9 (re-worded)

Local societal impact of energy generation projects should be offset by normalising community ownership and deepening the application of local social dividends

Principle 10 (new addition)

Consumer protection measures should be devised and enforced to protect end-users from potential unforeseen financial liabilities relating to implementation of large scale energy projects.

Box 2: Re-framed Principles included in modified Delphi-panel

Response rates for the second round of the Delphi-panel was also 90% and all participants who participated in the first round took part in the second round. Further discussion of the results of the Delphi-panel are expanded in section 4 of this report.

3 Energy transitions and visions: a community level perspective

ENTRUST has carried out extensive field engagements at grassroots level with six different communities. Deriving from these engagements, which span work carried out for Work Package 3, Work Package 5 and Work Package 6, is a rich variety of empirical based knowledge. This includes a deeper understanding of energy practices from the perspective of different socio-demographic groups; an evaluation of attitudes



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



towards large-scale energy technologies and an assessment of community capacities to achieve significant carbon reductions. The following section focuses on community capacities to achieve carbon reductions, which is also linked to the development of sets of feasibility of suites of solutions derived and collated from transition pathways carried out through an iterative process at community level. This section builds on work carried out in Work Package 6, specifically,: Deliverable 6.1 (Morrissey, Axon, Aiesha, et al. 2017) and Deliverable 6.3 (Morrissey, Axon, Hillman, et al. 2017). The following sections includes a critical summary and discussion of the main findings of these two deliverables. Furthermore, findings from these two deliverables are developed further here and enhanced by adding to the existing analysis of the initial 4 ENTRUST communities addressed in D6.3: Stockbridge, Le Trapèze, Secondigliano and Dunmanway with the 2 remaining cast study communities, Gràcia and the University student cohort (carried out specifically for this report and included as Appendix 1). Outcomes of this analysis point to new policy mixes and practice-based changes at the community level to inform innovation pathways for each community.

Visions for the future: a multiple stakeholder perspective 3.1

In a previous project output, Deliverable 6.1, a mixed-methods approach was utilised to gain insights into the complex understandings, expectations and feelings towards the energy system and its future development. Both citizen and expert opinions identified a series of preferred visions and expectations for the future of the energy system. Based on findings from citizens and experts, portfolios of energy system visions were developed and analysed with a SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats) analysis and appraisal of lifecycle and cost-benefit implications visioning exercises, including scenario development, as applied in D6.1 provided an essential foundation from which to highlight the key mechanisms for long-term and strategic evaluation of policies and strategies, particularly in the context of preparing society, institutions, actors and infrastructure for lasting change. In D6.1 five distinct visions for the future of the energy system emerged:

Continuity Vision (CONT);

- Accelerated Path Reduction Vision (AER); and
- Directed Decentralisation Vision (DD);
- Deep Green Vision (DG)
- Gradual Path Reduction Vision (GPR);

Three of these relate to community level / community generated visions, Continuity Vision (CONT); Gradual Path Reduction Vision (GPR) and Deep Green Vision (DG). For the purposes of this report, these visions are focused on. The remaining visions, Accelerated Path Reduction Vision (AER); and Directed Decentralisation Vision (DD) relate to SME and Expert visions and are excluded from this particular section of the analysis. The visions presented in D6.1 are predicated on an "...ideal, desirable future state of the energy system" that provide an insight into the ways in which different communities (whether of residents, workers, interest group members, or practitioners) consider how the energy system should transition in the coming years. The visions constitute a portfolio of scenarios of what the energy system could transition to, outlining in particular what residents in their communities want and expect the future of the system to look like. These visions illustrate the role of different energy sources, interventions and stakeholders and the extent, to which each would play within each vision for the future of the energy system. Table 1 presents an overview of the three





key community visions and based on extensive community engagement conducted for WP3 and WP5, aligns each community of practice with a particular vision.

	"Continuity Vision"	"Gradual Path Reduction Vision"	"Deep Green Vision"	
Features	 "Continuity Vision" Mixture of top-down and bottom-up approaches Strong preference for hard-infrastructure solutions Moderate support for changes to local technology Minimum social change The status quo of energy sources remains largely the same as current energy production and consumption. While renewable sources of energy are identified, the reliance on fossil fuels is maintained and this energy source is largely viewed to comprise the majority of future energy production. Nuclear energy and fracking of shale gas are deeply opposed to. In terms of interventions, all but local ownership of energy is fuely is proposed as favoured methods 	 "Gradual Path Reduction Vision" Mixture of top-down and bottom-up approaches Moderate support for hard-infrastructure solutions Moderate support for changes to local technology Minimum social change This vision may reflect a 'middle-ground' approach whereby fossil fuels and fracking of shale gas are opposed, yet nuclear energy receives moderate support in order to maintain current levels of energy production until further gains in renewable energy are achieved. Interestingly, the "gradual path reduction vision" also reflects the interventions least likely to be preferred by the "continuity vision" and the "deep green vision" – local ownership of 	 *Deep Green Vision" Strong preference for bottom-up approaches Moderate support for hard-infrastructure solutions Strong preference for changes to local technology Radical Social Change It is clear from this vision that traditional methods of producing and consuming energy through fossil fuels are unacceptable. This community also indicated that specific energy sources such as fracking of shale gas and nuclear energy are also not compatible with a view to a sustainable energy system. The "deep green vision" is therefore solely in favour of renewable energy at a national and at a local level. 	
	of approach.	energy and tax measures, respectively, neither of which is overly favoured by the Gradual Path Reduction Vision.		
Where do the Communities Fit?	Stockbridge Dunmanway Secondigliano	Trapieze University student cohort	Gràcia	

Table 1: Energy visions and community transitions (Developed from D6.1)

Figure 2 below 'maps' the communities of practice onto a 3 x 3 matrix canvas on the basis of the descriptions presented in Table 1. Three carbon-based categories appear on the x-axis of this canvas, 'Business-asusual/Carbon intensive energy future', 'Business-as-usual with some decarbonisation' and 'Decarbonised





energy future'. Three social categories appear on the y-axis of the canvas, 'Minimal social change', 'Moderate social change', 'Radical social change'.



Figure 2: Mapping six communities to 'Transition Visions'

Stockbridge, Dunmanway and Secondigliano are communities most aligned with a business as usual vision, with some support for renewable energy sources but a greater emphasis placed on continuity and current economic development models. In each of these communities, there is very limited support for social change or radical behaviourally focused interventions.

Le Trapèze and the University student cohort appear to have greater appetite for deeper decarbonisation, but as largely middle-class communities, issues of job security, career prospects and costs appear to be afforded greater priority. As with Stockbridge, Dunmanway and Secondigliano, there is not widespread support for radical social change. As the most active community from an activist perspective and with widespread support for low carbon solutions, Gràcia would appear to be the community most aligned with a deep green vision.

One interesting discussion point which emerges from Figure 2 above is the obvious need to engage in a 'transition of ideas' as well as a transition of technology, social practices and organisational models. It is clear that for communities such as Stockbridge, Dunmanway and Secondigliano there is not a widespread awareness that the energy system needs to radically and rapidly change for the purposes of carbon reduction and climate change mitigation. For such a radical and rapid change to occur, it is likely that community visions themselves need to transition to a deeper-green vision such as that favoured by residents of Gràcia.





3.2 Analysis of transition approaches at community level

In terms of low carbon transitions, it is clear that each of these communities has a very different and unique context and that residents are supportive of particular types of transition approaches. It is necessary to identify what the granular level challenges at the community level are and how these might be addressed using for example, innovation approaches (See D6.3). Research suggests that changes at the community level have the largest potential to be scaled-up and have substantial impacts towards low-carbon transitions (Moloney et al., 2010; Mulugetta et al., 2010). However, these changes need to be carefully aligned to the community in question.

In WP5 and WP6, the Shared Socio-economic Pathway Framework (van Vuuren et al. 2017; O'Neill et al. 2017; Riahi et al. 2017) is applied to explore where innovation is required in each of the ENTRUST communities of practice. This is based on the starting assumption that bottom-up and practice-based social innovations need to be incorporated in an integrated manner to achieve the required paradigm shift. To identify innovation needs for each community, an analytical framework was developed based on the Shared Socio-economic Pathway (SSP) concept. The SSPs are a set of five storylines on possible trajectories for human development and global environmental change, which include five different global futures (SSP1-5). The SSPs complement and build upon, existing scenario development frameworks by adding socio-economic narratives and quantitative pathways consistent with the challenges to mitigation of and adaptation to climate change. These scenarios allow exploration of different futures with and without climate policy responses. The different characteristics and main dynamics of each SSP scenario are as follows:

- 1) SSP1: Sustainability;
- 2) SSP2: Middle-of-the-road;
- 3) SSP3: Regional Rivalry;
- 4) SSP4: Inequality;
- 5) SSP5: Fossil fuelled Development (Kriegler et al. 2017).

In this deliverable and in D6.3, a qualitative description and identification of where constituent components of the SSPs match the characteristics of the profiled communities serves to highlight where innovations are required. These areas include population growth, energy use, agriculture, urbanisation rates, income and emissions and climate change. For this Deliverable, a spreadsheet was applied to 'map' the constituent components of the SSPs including population size, migration, consumption and diet, land use and environmental policy according to the characteristics of each of the studied communities. Developed SSP profiles outline how the characteristics of the profiled communities match with constituent components of the SSPs and where each community most likely aligns to one of the 5 SSPs.

The developed profiles are then applied to identify where innovation for sustainability is required for each of the communities in a bespoke and community-specific manner. Innovation needs identified from the SSP analysis are collated with appropriately matching innovations from the policy tool-kit presented in D4.4. In addition, community based innovations from the literature are identified and matched with the specific requirements of each of the communities of practice. Mapping in this way allows a granular mapping of





sustainability challenges at the community level and identification of transition supporting innovations which are carefully aligned to the needs of the community in question.

3.3 Identified Community Innovations

Tables 2-4 present an overview of identified innovation needs for each of the six communities of practice. Innovation needs identified from the SSP analysis are collated with appropriately matching innovations from the policy tool-kit presented in D4.4. In addition, community based innovations from the literature are identified and matched with the specific requirements of each of the six communities. presents a summary of analysis to date.

Community	Social/Demographic	Economics/Governance	Technology/Environment:	Overarching Policy Issue(s)
Stockbridge	Equity, Social	International trade	Technology development,	Equity;
_	cohesion, Societal	and Institutional	Technology transfer and	Access to
	participation &	strength.	Environment.	Opportunity
	Health			Just Transition
Le Trapèze	Social cohesion	Consumption and Diet	Environment	Individualised, high
				consumption
				lifestyles
Secondigliano	Health	Economic Growth (per	Energy Tech Change,	Equity;
	investments,	capita), Inequality,	Carbon Intensity, Energy	Access to
	Access to health	Environmental Policy	Intensity, Fossil	Opportunity
	facilities, water,	and Policy Orientation	Constraints	Just Transition
	sanitation and			
	Gender equality.			
Dunmanway	Urbanisation level	Economic Growth and	Carbon Intensity and	Economic Growth
	(linked to lack of	Globalisation	Energy Intensity	Decarbonisation
	population			
	growth).			
Gràcia	Population Growth	International trade	Carbon Intensity and	Sustainable Growth
	and Urbanisation	and Globalisation,	Energy Intensity	Decarbonisation
		Policy Orientation,		
		Institutions and		
		Consumption/ Diet		
University	Urbanisation Level,	International trade,	Energy Tech Change,	Economic Growth
student	Urbanisation Type	Globalization, Policy	Carbon Intensity and	Decarbonisation
cohort	and Equity issues	Orientation,	Energy Intensity	
		Institutions and		
		Consumption & Diet		

Table 2: Summary of identified innovation priorities for each community

Table 3 presents an overview of targeted innovations for Stockbridge Village, Merseyside, UK. Stockbridge is a community with considerable challenges, particularly on social and economic fronts. Poor health, high unemployment, marginalisation and energy and fuel poverty represent considerable challenges to the community. Five specific innovations are forwarded for Stockbridge (Table 10). Community Energy Projects are deemed of particular importance in the context of this community, with the scope to develop community 'benefits payments' mechanisms to address local social issues. In addition, more imaginative use of ICT, for example through local schools could serve to address social cohesion and build invaluable social capital in the community.





	Social / Demographic	Economics / Governance	Technology / Environment
Broad Trend – Identified Innovation Needs	Equity, Social cohesion, Societal participation & Health	International trade and Institutional strength	Technology development, Technology transfer and Environment
Innovations - D4.4:	Initiating thermal refurbishments in buildings		Enabling green energy self- consumption
Other Potential Community Innovations:	Use of ICT to link schools for community cohesion (Austin <i>et al.</i> 2015)	Grassroots community innovation for sustainability (Seyfan et al. 2014), e.g., Community Energy Projects (Martiskainer 2017)	
	Community 'benefits payments' from Energy Projects (Kerr et al. 2017)		

Table 3: Targeted Innovations for Stockbridge

Table 4 below presents an overview of targeted innovations for Le Trapèze. While the project of Le Trapèze has been designed to optimise its ecological and environmental goals through best practice approaches in the built environment, the community faces challenges in developing social cohesion and in fostering a community identity. As with other communities, Community Energy Projects are deemed important and appropriate to the community in Le Trapèze. Innovation on the social domain could include use of community heritage or history projects to develop community identity and social cohesion. In addition, as the community is relatively prosperous, environmental issues are strongly linked to consumption patterns, particularly in view of the relatively environmentally friendly nature of the built environment. Community partnerships in healthy eating and lifestyle promotion therefore potentially represent an innovation to address unsustainable consumption as well as issues with social cohesion in this community.

ology / Environment
onment and Consumption viet
nunity Citizen Science cts on Environment, mption and Diet eidou <i>et al.</i> 2017) nunity partnerships in ny eating and lifestyle otion (An <i>et al.</i> 2017)
n ei nu ny

Table 4: Targeted Innovations for Le Trapèze



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



Table 5 below presents an overview of targeted innovations for Secondigliano. There are significant environmental issues in Secondigliano, especially related to waste management, directly attributable to deficiencies in infrastructure provision and governance /institutional weaknesses. Economic growth remains very clearly fossil fuel driven in this community. Therefore, and as with other communities, Community Energy Projects are deemed important and appropriate to the community in Secondigliano, coupled with community benefits payment mechanisms to address local social issues. Secondigliano, along with Stockbridge and Dunmanway is very much in need of investment in infrastructure development and upgrade. For this reason, a large-scale urban retrofit programme with goals of energy reduction and improved residential thermal comfort is appropriate for Secondigliano. On the social domain, *Regular Community Health Fairs* represent a cost-efficient innovation for dissemination of preventive services to vulnerable populations and would seem to be especially suitable for the community in Secondigliano. In addition, financial support schemes for local female entrepreneurs could begin to address economic development and gender inequality problems locally.

	Social / Demographic	Economics / Governance	Technology / Environment	
Broad Trend – Identified Innovation Needs	Health investments, Access to health facilities, water, sanitation and Gender equality	Economic Growth (per capita), Inequality, Environmental Policy and Policy Orientation	Energy Tech Change, Carbon Intensity, Energy Intensity, Fossil Constraints	
Innovations - D4.4:		Initiating thermal refurbishments in buildings	Enabling green energy self- consumption	
			Reducing electricity usage through smart technologies	
Other Potential Community Innovations:	Regular Community Health Fairs (Health fairs are a cost-efficient platform for dissemination of preventive services to vulnerable populations) (Opperman <i>et al.</i> 2017)	Grassroots community innovation for sustainability (Seyfang et al. 2014), e.g., Community Energy Projects (Martiskainen 2017) Large Scale Urban Retrofit Programmes (e.g., investing in cross-cutting strategies to reduce exposures harmful to health and to establish conditions that support healthful daily practices (Miller et al. 2011)		
	Financial support mechai	nanisms for female innovators (Fhlatharta & Farrell 2017)		
	Community 'benefits payments' from Energy Projects (Kerr <i>et al.</i> 2017)			

Table 5:	Targeted	Innovations	for	Secondigliano
----------	----------	-------------	-----	---------------

Table 6 below presents an overview of targeted innovations for Dunmanway. Dunmanway, like many rural communities across Europe is faced with challenges of depopulation, an aging resident population, changing land use patterns, shrinking local employment opportunities, along with the homogenising influence of multinational retail and the inability of local business to compete. It is a highly car-dependent community, owing to poor public transport infrastructure and as a result, is a very carbon and energy intensive



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



community. Therefore, and as with other communities, Community Energy Projects are deemed important and appropriate to the community in Dunmanway. In addition, transport related innovations from D4.4 are deemed to be especially appropriate for Dunmanway. Infrastructure in the form of Rural Broadband and ICT infrastructure are deemed as essentials for economic functioning and resilience for Dunmanway.

	Social / Demographic	Economics / Governance	Technology / Environment
Broad Trend – Identified Innovation Needs	Urbanisation level (linked to lack of population growth)	Economic Growth and Globalisation	Carbon Intensity and Energy Intensity
Innovations - D4.4:	Increasing the purchase and use of electric vehicles	Initiating thermal refurbishments in buildings	Enabling green energy self- consumption
	Increasing the practice of car sharing		Reducing electricity usage through smart technologies
	Encouraging automobiles commuters to carpool		
Other Potential Community Innovations:		Grassroots community innovation for sustainability (Seyfang et al. 2014), e.g., Community Energy Projects (Martiskainen 2017)	
	Rural Broadband and ICT infrastructure as essentials for economic functioning and resilience (Roberts <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 2016)		

Table 6: Targeted Innovations for Dunmanway

Table 7 below presents an overview of targeted innovations for Gràcia. Demographically, there are a lot of families in the area with the population populated in the majority by middle class professionals. However, home ownership remains a challenge in Gràcia. While there is a tradition and practice of community group organisation in Gràcia, this potential remains largely untapped when it comes to sustainable energy practices. As with other communities, initiating thermal refurbishments in buildings, enabling green energy self-consumption and Reducing electricity usage through smart technologies are deemed important. However, it would appear that split incentives remain as a significant barrier to more extensive uptake of these innovations. For this reason, measures to address the split incentive issues at the community level are important innovations to prioritise. In addition, the rapid gentrification of the area poses long term sustainability challenges, especially in the social domain. Community level measures to tackle this issue are deemed appropriate.





	Social / Demographic	Economics / Governance	Technology / Environment
Broad Trend – Identified Innovation Needs	Population Growth and Urbanisation	International trade and Globalisation, Policy Orientation, Institutions and Consumption/ Diet	Carbon Intensity and Energy Intensity
Innovations - D4.4:	Initiating thermal refurbishments in buildings		Enabling green energy self- consumption Reducing electricity usage through smart technologies
Other Innovations	Innovation to address split incentive issue at building level <i>e.g.,</i> carefully designed program of incentives for participants (including landlords) in conjunction with a unique type of utility-managed on-bill financing mechanism, as described by (Bird & Hernández 2012) has significant potential to solve many of the complications. Local innovations to address problems of gentrification: (Lees & Ferreri 2016) report three innovations which may be applicable in the Gràcia context: (i) local civil society network organising to support open master planning through active engagement with planning; (ii) self-organised activities to keep the estate open and accessible during the displacement of its residents; and (iii) legal challenges to the compulsory purchase order		

Table 7: Targeted Innovations for Gràcia

Table 8 below presents an overview of targeted innovations for the University student cohort. The student community shows a very noteworthy increase in commuting from students from outside of the city to attend University. This increase in commuting can be attributed to the economic down-turn, cost of housing etc., with many students electing to remain at home with parents rather than navigate the high-cost housing market. This feature is deemed of most immediate significance in terms of targeting sustainability related innovations for the University student cohort. Transport related innovations identified in D4.4 are deemed appropriate for the student cohort, including Increasing the purchase and use of electric vehicles; Increasing the practice of car sharing and Encouraging automobiles commuters to carpool. In addition, regional improvement in broadband levels would enable and facilitate on-line learning and reduce the imperative for daily on-campus attendance.





	Social / Demographic	Economics / Governance	Technology / Environment
Broad Trend – Identified Innovation Needs	Urbanisation Level, Urbanisation Type and Equity issues	International trade, Globalization, Policy Orientation, Institutions and Consumption & Diet	Energy Tech Change, Carbon Intensity and Energy Intensity
Innovations - D4.4:	Increasing the purchase and use of electric vehicles Increasing the practice of car sharing Encouraging automobiles commuters to carpool		Behaviour Change for Energy Reduction Reducing electricity usage through smart technologies
Other Innovations:			Rural Broadband and ICT infrastructure as essentials for economic functioning and resilience (Roberts <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 2016)

Table 8: Targeted Innovations for University student cohort

Development of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition 4

4.1 Energy as a public good: towards a fair and inclusive energy sustainability model

One of the areas that has been relatively underdeveloped in current debates about energy transitions relates to energy system governance and the potential implications for the way in which transitions can considerably change the way in which energy is managed as a public good (Chilvers & Longhurst 2016). In fact, recent research broadens this debate by suggesting that energy demand systems are more influential for leading transitions than energy supply systems (Grübler 2012). These new paradigms have turned conventional understandings of energy system change on its head. As common assumptions were based on the notion that large scale energy supply systems were the main driver of energy transitions. Furthermore, in terms of working towards a vision of energy sustainability, equity has come to represent one of the core pillars for achieving sustainability in consonance with environmental and economic sustainability (Ringrose 2017). Understanding and meditating on end-user needs and requirements is therefore a critical component of a successful energy transition towards a more sustainable model.

Developing an underlying basis that establishes core guidelines concerning the manner in which different actors involved in the governance of the energy system consider the social implications of their actions and decisions is essential. The principal context for developing principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition is grounded on the realisation that energy transition is confronted with many social and technical problems. Indeed, previous studies have shown that these limitations have considerably slowed down the pace of energy system transitions. Most significantly, a number of social and political questions remain unanswered,



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



which can have serious repercussions for the way energy users relate to energy in the future. For instance, is it possible that alternative energy production and consumption systems will result in new forms of exclusion and poverty? What is the fairest means to achieve responsible energy consumption? What is the role of place and community in mediating and protecting individuals from potential impacts of energy system change? How can we ensure equal voice and empowerment regardless of gender, age or socio-economic status?

While there are no universal solutions and answers to these questions, there are a number of core ideas which could promote a fairer and more inclusive vision for the future of the energy system. Developing a set of expert sanctioned principles helps establish critical standards which will ensure that energy transition and development evolves in consonance with adequate systems of governance which are underscored by a concern to promote equity and inclusion. Within a context of change and uncertainty the consensus driven process promoted by the Delphi-panel helps refine and validate the development of key principles. Principles are useful ways for establishing common standards relating to matters, which are usually complex and require guidance with respect to the development of formal and informal governance systems, laws and behavioural norms (UN Global Compact 2016). The principles developed by the Delphi-panel are complementary to the Bellagio Principles, which have established a broader strategy for assessing progress toward sustainable development (Pediaditi et al. 2010; Cundy et al. 2013). The aim of the Delphi-panel exercise overall is to reach interdisciplinary consensus amongst academic experts from different areas with regards core principles to help support a fair and inclusive energy transition pathway in Europe. In this context, they enhance the criteria established by the Bellagio principles by making them context specific regarding energy transition trajectories with a specific focus on developing a more holistic approach that takes into consideration the adequate engagement and participation at grassroots level.

In total ten principles have emerged from the Delphi-panel exercise conducted by the ENTRUST team and each principle is discussed individually in terms of the level of agreement received by the panel members and the core comments and complementary suggestions made. The feedback offered by the panel is valuable and helps ensure each principle is interpreted and employed correctly. It was not possible to reach consensus in one of the principles (Principle 9) and the concluding list includes nine revised principles as opposed to the ten considered by the Delphi-panel.

4.2 Principle 1: inclusive communication and engagement

All institutions promoting energy transitions should establish well devised channels of communication, social engagement and inclusive dialogue

Principle 1 is largely concerned with ensuring that institutions promoting energy transitions have a set of well-devised communication channels that facilitate social engagement and inclusive dialogue. This seeks to mediate against overly tiered and technocratic forms of communication within institutions, which often present barriers for the public to interact and engage with energy transition issues. The consensus rate relevant to this principle was high and during the 1st round iteration of the Delphi-panel survey, eight out of nine expert participants agreed with including this principle in the final list.



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



Table 9 below demonstrates that eight expert respondents agreed with the principle, while only one participant requested re-framing. All participants agreed that the guiding ideas framing this principle were important and that it would lead not just to higher levels of participation but it would enhance transparency and project effectiveness. However, two participants offered a more critical analysis of this principle and noted that there are three key elements distinguishable in this principle. These are: i) channels of communication; ii) social engagement and; iii) inclusive dialogue. In this context, one of the experts added that while the principal is relevant there are many challenges in terms of delivering on these aspirational goals, which include budgetary and resource constraints. In particular the expert added, these challenges are more poignant when considering the third aspect included in this principle (*i.e.*, inclusive dialogue) which is seen by this expert as the least developed of these three elements. Furthermore, it was also noted that there should be more methods made available to help institutions promote engagement and dialogue. This in essence highlights the difficulty in putting into practice a communication strategy and stresses the need for adequate tools to support future communication, social engagement and inclusive dialogue practices. Consequently, while some of the experts agreed with Principle 1 they also added a cautionary note. Mainly, experts highlighted that although engagements are important it is critical that these have a meaningful purpose and that this is identified and communicated in a clear, easy to understand and tangible manner.

	Principle	Feedback	
1 ^{sr} Iteration	All institutions promoting energy transitions should establish well devised channels of communication, social engagement and inclusive dialogue	8 0 1 Agree Disagree Re-frame	
2 nd Iteration			
3 rd Iteration	n/a		

Table 9: Principle 1 – Summary of expert feedback

The single request for re-framing this principle derived from the rationale that because there are three distinct elements included in this principle, they should be separated as they can suggest different options and different strategies. One possible alternative suggested was to add two additional principles to cover each element independently. After further analysis of the finding this alternative was not pursued because i) there was an overall agreement around this principle in general and ii) elsewhere other principles enhance and complement these guidelines. There were no further additions after the first iteration of the Delphipanel.





4.3 Principle 2: equity of participation

All civic and public spaces involved in energy system transition dialogues should provide a stage for participation based on equality in terms of gender, social background and socio-economic status

To ensure wider participation it is often necessary to spell out specific criteria that recognises difference and is mindful of pervasive discrimination and marginalisation processes. There is often a tendency to homogenise public and community voice. This is problematic as it reduces and absorbs a large set of experiences by focusing on those that are most visible. For instance, having a gender-biased space of participation is still a common concern in many areas of policy, including energy transitions policy. This principle seeks to address this common problem by highlighting the need to ensure that spaces for participation are based on equality in terms of gender, social background and socio-economic status. By stating, in Principle 2, these three common areas of bias and discrimination the principle strongly suggests that active steps should be taken to recognise and assume that difference is the norm rather than the exception.

As table 10 below illustrates, in the first iteration of the Delphi-panel survey seven expert participants agreed with the principle and two asked that the principle be re-framed. Expert participants in general supported the principle but some of the participants added that social difference may extend to other areas and that these should perhaps be highlighted as well. Namely, that discrimination is also felt in terms of cultural background, disability, religious diversity and that it could be problematic to identify some aspects while leaving others out. In terms of the first iteration of this principle, there were also some comments offered regarding the examples provided on the type of stages of participation that this principle might apply. Examples were given to help contextualise the types of spaces of participation where it could be necessary to include these equality criteria. The examples included were typical forms of statutory engagements with the wider public such as consultation campaigns and local committees. One expert participant suggested that giving examples and adding these to the principle could constrain the manner in which the principle is interpreted. While another participant noted that these examples are valuable but suggested that these illustrative examples are best suited as complementary information. Two expert participants (while they agreed with the principle) debated the merit of 'giving equal voice to those who are less knowledgeable'. The first participant offered the view that 'being experts on their own lives' provided valuable information which is crucial for grasping public attitudes and behaviours towards energy transitions. The second expert participant highlighted that an alternative perspective on this issue could be considered in terms of focusing on high impact groups such as large corporations rather than centring participation and transition dialogues based on an end-user perspective. This participant illustrates the point by noting that recent 'leave it in the ground' approaches considerably change the emphasis on individual energy behaviours and places greater weight to corporate action regarding further investments in fossil fuel companies.





	Principle	Feedback
1 ^{sr} Iteration	All civic spaces involved in energy system transition dialogues should strive for equality in terms of gender, age, social background and socio- economic status (<i>e.g.</i> consultation campaigns, establishment of local committees, <i>etc.</i>)	7 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame
2 nd Iteration	All civic and public spaces involved in energy system transition dialogues should provide a stage for participation based on equality in terms of gender, social background and socio-economic status.	9 0 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame
3 rd Iteration	n/	ía

Table 10: Principle 2 – Summary of expert feedback

Principle 2 was re-framed or rather re-worded to ensure greater clarity in terms of the ideas being suggested. After these minor improvements, all expert participants agreed to include the principle in the final list.

4.4 Principle 3: monitoring and accountability

Accountability and monitoring mechanisms should be included in all new energy projects, which include regular evaluation of citizen complaints, feedback from energy users and regular reports that demonstrate how citizen complaints and comments have been addressed.

The Bellagio Principles set forth a range of guiding elements with a particular focus on monitoring assessing and evaluating progress as it pertains to sustainable development (Cundy et al. 2013). Principle 3 enhances these core ideas, which focus on the need to assess progress by adding the notion that accountability mechanisms should be a key element within these strategies. The focus on end-user feedback also highlights the need to rely on external measures of assessment rather than developing more insular and internal criteria, which omits to consider progress from the perspective of end-users. The regularity of these evaluations is also noted as an important element and it speaks of the need to address any issues in a timely manner. It is further noted that these assessments need to be proactive in order to avoid adopting a remedial stance by over relying on complaints as a driver for improvements.

Overall, there was general consent by expert participants over Principle 3. As Table 11 below demonstrates seven out of nine participants agreed with the principle on the first iteration of the Delphi-panel and only two participants requested a further re-framing of this principle. Those in agreement highlighted that this is an 'important aspect of the feedback loop' as it ensures 'proper treatment and consideration of feedback'. Another expert participant noted that it is vital that people and 'especially vulnerable people' know who is accountable and whether they themselves are accountable. Enhancement of this principle, as it was reflected


Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



in the second iteration, focused on the need to highlight adequate treatment of feedback provided by endusers. For this reason, further elements were added to this principle which focus on the need to 'demonstrate how citizen complaints and comments have been addressed'.

In more practical terms what most participants stressed in different ways was that it should be visible and measurable how feedback and evaluations are addressed and furthermore that this information is made available in an open and transparent manner. Similar to Principal 1 there were calls for the development of appropriate and practical methodologies that will enable the implementation of this principle using well-developed and tested methodologies. One participant further suggested that independent watchdog organisations are the way in which to ensure this important principle is adhered to. In the second iteration of the Delphi-panel all nine expert participants agreed with the principle.

	Principle	Feedback
1 ^{sr} Iteration	Accountability mechanisms should be included in all new energy projects, which include regular evaluation of citizen complaints and feedback from energy users.	7 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame
2 nd Iteration	Accountability and monitoring mechanisms should be included in all new energy projects, which include regular evaluation of citizen complaints, feedback from energy users and regular reports that demonstrate how citizen complaints and comments have been addressed.	9 0 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame
3rd Iteration	n/	<i>'a</i>

Table 11: Principle 3 – Summary of expert feedback

4.5 Principle 4: future-proofing

All new energy production and consumption projects and policies should be future proofed. This evaluation must include a long-term feasibility and contingency strategy.

There is a temporal component to the promotion of energy transition projects and policies, which needs to be carefully acknowledged. Particularly because it is often not easy to foresee the level of impact that certain projects might have both directly and indirectly. However, it is essential that projects are considered both in terms of long term and short-term projections. Additionally, it can be the case that these short and long-term goals maybe be inconsistent or incompatible. For instance, sustainability strategies are strongly influenced by political and electoral cycles, which considerably influence the timing and consistency of policy trajectories. In terms of sustainability and equity exploring future impacts and dynamics is highly important as it ensures that strategies include targeted projections which are well understood and adequately





communicated. Furthermore, future proofing works towards achieving continuity and stability in the process of new energy project implementation.

While there was general agreement regarding the key ideas underpinning Principle 4, the comments made during the first iteration of the Delphi-panel highlight a common concern with regards the validity of these projections in the face of high levels of uncertainty concerning the future. As Table 12 below demonstrates in the first iteration of the survey seven expert participants agreed with principle while two participants requested that this principle be re-framed. There were numerous comments regarding what social and environmental dimensions should be included in this evaluation process. Two of the respondents stressed that climate change and population growth are key elements to consider. However, from a practical perspective some experts raised concerns by noting that there is a high degree of uncertainty and lack of agreement concerning the best means to evaluate what can be a highly subjective conception of 'the future'. Nonetheless, most participants were in agreement and suggested some practical devices for addressing evaluations of the future. Suggestions included that results of these evaluations are presented in scenario format and furthermore that contingency plans are incorporated into this process.

There were slight alterations to Principle 4 based on the comments (see Table 12 below) and in the second iteration of the Delphi-panel a re-worded version of the principle was proposed. There was greater agreement with this principle and there was only one re-quest to slightly shorten the wording of the principle. Based on these comments a final version of this principle was re-drafted with confidence that there is robust consensus in terms of including Principle 4 in the final iteration list.

	Principle	Feedback
1 ^{sr} Iteration	All new energy production and consumption projects and policies should be future proofed.	7 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame
2 nd Iteration	All new energy production and consumption projects and policies should be future proofed. This evaluation must include a strategy to address any expected shortcomings or impacts as well as have a long-term feasibility strategy	8 0 1 Agree Disagree Re-frame
3rd Iteration	All new energy production and consumproofed. This evaluation must include a lo	ption projects and policies should be future ong-term feasibility and contingency strategy.

Table 12: Principle 4 – Summary of expert feedback





4.6 Principle 5: energy poverty mitigation

Energy poverty mitigation strategies should be integrated into new energy projects

Principle 5 received overwhelming agreement between all expert participants. The principle overall indicates that all new energy projects should include an energy poverty mitigation strategy. The high level of support for this principle indicates the well-established understanding that energy poverty is a critical issue to consider in new forms of energy supply and consumption. It is becoming increasingly accepted in academic circles that energy transitions may lead to new processes of exclusion, which culminates in new experiences of energy poverty. For instance, one of the expert participants agreed with the principle and offered the point that many retrofitting programmes have had negative effects on tenants. Another expert participant also illustrated instances of exclusion by noting that both energy projects and energy policies should consider this principle in order to 'ensure that subsidising PV does not lead to the poor further subsidising the wealthy'. There was some debate in terms of the relevance of this principle in more developed regions. Two expert participants noted that this issue may be more relevant in some countries and less in others. For instance, from an Irish context perspective two of the expert participant stated that this is not a critical issue for Ireland in comparative terms. Overall, our academic panel accepted this trend and while there were some concerns with how this can be implemented in practice all nine expert participants agreed with the principle without further re-framing (please see Table 13 below). The main concerns highlighted were: Practical implementation of this principle; Social class divides and power struggles. One suggestion to help implement this principle was proposed which entailed the development of pilot strategies to adequately evaluate process and outcomes ahead of large scale project implementation.

	Principle	Feedback
1 ^{sr} Iteration	Energy poverty mitigation strategies should be integrated into new energy projects	9 0 0 Agree Disagree Re-Frame
2 nd Iteration 3 rd Iteration	n/a	

Table 13: Principle 5 – Summary of expert feedback

4.7 Principle 6: precautionary approach to social and environmental impact

All energy projects should adopt a precautionary approach in terms of possible social and environmental harms.

The precautionary principle as it is applied to new energy projects highlights the significance of equity from an intergenerational perspective. It also highlights the fact that potential harmful outcomes should be addressed whether or not significant scientific evidence exists to understand the full extent of these potential



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



harms. This idea is closely linked with Principle 4, which established the necessity to future proof new energy projects. However, the guiding idea here is that even in the face of uncertainty regarding the future and the specific risks associated with the development of new projects, if there is the potential of a significant threat, proactive measures should be prioritised. Seeing that fossil fuel energy is closely linked with climate change, measures to prevent and mitigate against these adverse effects should be an essential element in this principle. Additionally, this principle also brings into focus the procedural way in which decisions are made in the face of uncertainty. Namely who judges what levels of threat are acceptable and what degree of certainty is necessary before decisions are made. Inclusive stakeholder deliberations are often an answer to these procedural dilemmas especially when there are obvious limitations in terms of existing scientific evidence.

As Table 14 below demonstrates all expert participants agreed with Principle 6 in the first iteration of the Delphi-panel and no further changes to the principle were requested or carried out. A few comments were offered which highlight that this is a welcome and well-established principle, which should be included for the purposes of promoting equity and inclusivity with regards sustainable energy transitions. However, one expert participant noted that the practical application of the precautionary principle has 'often been undermined by powerful (business) interests across a range of environmental policy areas' and that 'monitoring' the use of the precautionary principle is essential. Another participant added that it 'likely more difficult to anticipate [and] quantify/assess the social harms'

Diversification of risk as they pertain to energy transition is a suggestion made by one of the participants in terms of applying this principle in practice.

	Principle	Feedback				
1 ^{sr} Iteration	All energy projects should adopt a precautionary approach in terms of possible social and environmental harms.	9 0 0 Agree Disagree Re-Frame				
2 nd Iteration						
3 rd Iteration	n/a					

Table 14: Principle 6 – Summary of expert feedback

4.8 Principle 7: inclusivity in energy projects

Citizen inputs should be solicited using inclusive participatory procedures, integrated into the process of initial conception, planning, implementation and evaluation of energy projects

Principle 7 is a core idea in terms of ensuring that inclusivity is reflected in all energy projects in a meaningful way. It also offers a breakdown of different stages where participation should be taking place. Oftentimes, participatory procedures either are staged as single events detached from the process of project development or are carried out at times where input in no longer viable. Thus, different opportunities, which





follow more closely the process of project development, is an important factor to address. Participation at different stages also encourages more organic forms of participation, which might not necessarily align with scheduled events.

Because citizen engagement and participation has been poorly handled in the past, problematic patterns of participation have emerged. In particular, there are growing concerns regarding participation as a tokenistic practice with little influence or benefit for those involved as well as participation as a form of transfer of responsibilities from state to community level. These can produce new demands for community involvement or engagement in a process, that is not always transparent or indeed fair. The emphasis on inclusive participatory procedures is thus highlighted as a means of distinguishing between more superficial citizen engagement procedures and practice that is more meaningful. For instance, public consultation is often a term largely associated with tokenistic engagements while emerging engagement fora such as citizen juries imply and much deeper form of engagement.

Overall, there was agreement over the ideas framing the principle as well as the general way, which the principle was articulated. As table 15 below demonstrates in the first iteration of the Delphi-panel seven out of the nine expert participants agreed with the principle. Where participants asked to re-frame the principle two main issues were highlighted. For one, it was noted that this principle has many similarities with Principle 1 and that these two principles could perhaps be merged. Secondly, it was noted that the initial stages of a project are vital in terms of inclusive input and therefore initial conception and planning stages should be added to the stages of which participatory procedures should take place. Because there was general consensus offered over the merit of having Principle 7 as a stand-alone principle the suggestion to merge these ideas with Principle 1 were not carried. There was some re-framing of the principle which specifies a series of stages, where participation is important in the project development process and these were subject to a second review in the 2nd round iteration of the Delphi-panel.

Results from the second iteration of the Delphi-panel show that revisions to this principle were less successful. As table 15 below demonstrates there was little progress in terms of improving consensus rates for this principle. Indeed, there were still two participants not fully agreeing with the principle and in fact one of these participants disagreed with the principle overall. The rationale for disagreeing with the principle was that the citizens body might not be the most 'appropriate collective for informing large energy project decisions' and whether this is best suited as a government role. This idea represents a fundamental problem in terms of governance practices whereby there are stances, which see the government as the central stakeholder in overseeing and commenting on these large-scale matters while there is a growing view that governance must extend and promote influence beyond government bodies to include local and grassroots stakeholders. Because there was, over 70% agreement on the merits of adopting a more inclusive approach there is no revision of the principle based on this rejection from round two of the Delphi-panel.





Table 15: Principle 7 – Summary of expert feedback

	Principle	Survey Results
1 ^{sr} Iteration	Citizen inputs should be solicited using inclusive participatory procedures and integrated into the process of development and implementation of energy projects	7 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame
2 nd Iteration	Citizen inputs should be solicited using inclusive participatory procedures, integrated into the process of initial conception, planning, development and implementation of energy projects	7 1 1 Agree Disagree Re-frame
3rd Iteration	Citizen inputs should be solicited using inclinto the process of initial conception, pla energy projects	lusive participatory procedures, integrated inning, implementation and evaluation of

4.9 Principle 8: consistency of policies

Policies seeking to reduce or change end-user energy practices should strive to be consistent with existing structural and social conditions and short and long-term adaptability strategies. Proactive measures should be taken to overcome major barriers.

Behaviour change policies have gained considerable traction in terms of energy transition policies. From calls to reduce energy consumption at household level to campaigns to counter current mobility and transportation practices. Many of these practices however are closely tied and aligned with a range of external factors and cannot be reduced to a matter of choice by individual consumers. In other words, there is a complex range of prerequisites which guide and discipline behaviour. Understanding the conditions that enable change with regards more problematic energy practices and behaviours is the only way to adopt a more holistic and realistic approach. Energy behaviour is thus a component within the energy system and the links that have shaped collective behaviours are best understood if correctly situated within this bigger picture dynamic.

Table 16:	Principle 8	– Summar	y of expert	тееараск	

	Principle	Survey Results
1 ^{sr} Iteration	To ensure against unfair impositions on the public, energy behaviour change policies should strive to be consistent and coherent with short and long-term adaptability strategies.	4 0 Agree Disagree Re-Frame





	Principle	Survey Results
2 nd Iteration	Policies seeking to reduce or change end-user energy practices should strive to be consistent and coherent with existing structural and social conditions as well as adequately linked to short and long-term adaptability strategies.	7 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame
3rd Iteration	Policies seeking to reduce or change end- consistent with existing structural and so adaptability strategies. Proactive measur barriers.	user energy practices should strive to be ocial conditions and short and long-term res should be taken to overcome major

As Table 16 above demonstrates initial consensus rates for this principle in the first iteration of the Delphi panel survey were low. Five out of the nine participants requested the principle to be re-framed while only four agreed to carry the principle with no further changes. One of the main issues highlighted was that the message conveyed in this principle was vague. There was also a comment, which highlighted the point that there is need here to have an evaluation component 'by the intended targeted audiences' so that it is well understood how strategies may be finding resistance either through lack of structural and social conditions.

Another participant added a cautionary note by pointing out that there is a crucial dilemma between having to 'respect the pace for societal change' and meeting the 'urgent need to transition quickly'. Further to these comments a revision of the principle was carried out. Results from the second iteration of the Delphi-panel regarding this principle suggest that revisions were largely positive and the consensus rate was much higher with seven out of nine participants agreeing with the way in which this principle was put forth.

One of the participants that requested the principle to be re-framed in the second round noted (similarly to the comment above) that the there is a problematic component guiding this principle which 'induces acceptance of status quo' and leads to no further 'motivation for change with explicit actions and procedures'. To address this concern an additional sentence was added to the principle which stipulates the need to undertake proactive measures to address any barriers to behaviour change.

4.10 Principle 9: community involvement and ownership

Local societal impact of energy generation projects should be offset by normalising community ownership and deepening the application of local social dividends

Principle 9 was the most divisive from the list provided in the Delphi-panel and despite the two rounds of the Delphi-panel survey, acceptable consensus rates for this principle could not be reached. For this reason, this principle will not be included in the final list of principles coming out of this exercise.

Community ownership has gained increased interest around Europe as nation states seek to stimulate the uptake of new technologies and reduce local resistance to the development of new technologies with varying degrees of impact for urban and rural neighbourhoods (Walker 2008). Offsetting some of the impacts of energy production through community ownership models is a key idea often associated with these types of strategies. Furthermore, community ownership could also lead to the promotion of smaller-scale and lower-



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



impact projects. These ideas have gained increased currency in policy circles. However, there are significant disparities within Europe regarding the promotion of community ownership as a model of energy system sustainability. For this reason, the conditions, which could allow energy generation projects to become more adequately embedded in the localities where energy is extracted and produced, are underdeveloped. There are a number of difficulties in promoting this form of energy ownership and it is perhaps unsurprising that Principle 9 has meet with several objections. Some of the objections highlighted include:

- Difficulty in choosing adequate forms of compensation and offsetting (beyond monetary compensation)
- Commodification and marketisation of social needs
- Financial discourses side-stepping political questions
- Difficulty of implementation
- Emphasis on meaningful participation rather than ownership

One of the participants offers further commentary by illustrating the point with an example: 'Imagine two different communities facing the same problem local impact of an energy generation project; one community is economically vulnerable and the other is well-off. The first one is more likely to accept the burden of the energy project than the second one, for obvious reasons. This however reproduces the kind of environmental injustice that we are seeing everywhere'. Table 17 below demonstrates that the rates of consensus regarding this principle remain very low.

	Principle	Survey Results
1 ^{sr} Round Iteration	Local impact of large scale energy generation projects should be offset by deepening local social application of social dividends and community ownership	4 2 3 Agree Disagree Re-Frame
2 nd Round Iteration	Local societal impact of energy generation projects should be offset by normalising community ownership and deepening the application of local social dividends	4 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame
Final Iteration	n/o	a

Table 17: Principle 9 – Summary of expert feedback

4.11 Principle 10: consumer protection

Adequate measures should be devised and enforced to protect consumers from unforeseen financial liabilities and other drawbacks arising from large-scale projects

Principle 10 was not part of the initial list of principles set out and put forth for feedback in the first iteration of the Delphi-panel. As discussed in the methodology there was an option at the end of the first iteration of





the Delphi-panel for the participants to make a suggestion for alternative principles. Only one of the participants suggested a principle, which relates to consumer protection measures.

The merits of greater consumer protection measures can be understood by the fact that energy transition as they bring new energy production and consumption models represent a considerable risk to the consumer (Monast & Adair 2013). While there are consumer laws and regulations these transitions require a level of monitoring and regulatory refinement which is often lacking. Nation states have a critical role in overseeing that consumer rights are upheld, however increasing delegation to different organisations and agencies has often led to regulatory laxity.

Overall, there was substantial agreement to include this principle in the final iteration. As the table 18 below demonstrates seven participants agreed with the principle while two participants asked that the principle be re-framed including the participant that initially suggested Principle 10. The main objection related to the fact that there is usually already consumer protection legislation in place.

	Principle	Survey Results				
1 ^{sr} Round Iteration	r	n/a				
2 nd Round Iteration	Consumer protection measures should be devised and enforced to protect end-users from potential unforeseen financial liabilities relating to implementation of large scale energy projects.	7 2 0 Agree Disagree Re-frame				
Final Iteration	Adequate measures should be devised unforeseen financial liabilities and ot projects	and enforced to protect consumers from ther drawbacks arising from large-scale				

Table 18: Principle 10 – Summary of expert feedback

4.12 Future and application of the principles in Europe: concluding comments

The Delphi-panel exercise focused on the development of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition offers a set of standards that have been validated by the inputs and comments of a panel of interdisciplinary expert academics with a diversified and extensive knowledge of this field. Overall the Delphi-panel process has been successful in terms of refining the original proposed principles based on the comments that were offered during the two rounds of survey that were carried out with the nine expert participants that formed the Delphi-panel. Eight out of the original nine principles received over 70% consensus are included in the final list of principles offered below (see Box 3). One principle failed to meet the required consensus rate (Principle 9) and will not be included in the final list. Additionally, there was an alternative principle added that was suggested by one of the participants and this was very well received and is also included in the final list.





Principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition (final iteration)

Principle 1

All institutions promoting energy transitions should establish well devised channels of communication, social engagement and inclusive dialogue.

Principle 2

All civic and public spaces involved in energy system transition dialogues should provide a stage for participation based on equality in terms of gender, social background and socio-economic status.

Principle 3

Accountability and monitoring mechanisms should be included in all new energy projects, which include regular evaluation of citizen complaints, feedback from energy users and regular reports that demonstrate how citizen complaints and comments have been addressed.

Principle 4

All new energy production and consumption projects and policies should be future proofed. This evaluation must include a long-term feasibility and contingency strategy.

Principle 5

Energy poverty mitigation strategies should be integrated into new energy projects

Principle 6

All energy projects should adopt a precautionary approach in terms of possible social and environmental harms.

Principle 7

Citizen inputs should be solicited using inclusive participatory procedures, integrated into the process of initial conception, planning, implementation and evaluation of energy projects

Principle 8

Policies seeking to reduce or change end-user energy practices should strive to be consistent with existing structural and social conditions and short and long-term adaptability strategies. Proactive measures should be taken to overcome major barriers.

Principle 9

Adequate measures should be devised and enforced to protect consumers from unforeseen financial liabilities and other drawbacks arising from large-scale projects

Box 3: Principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition





Views of energy transitions at community level 5

This section summarises the results of the mini-survey that was conducted with five communities across Europe. The survey explores stakeholder views of energy transitions at community level. More specifically the survey has captured information from a range of professional and local based stakeholders focusing on perceptions and experiences of energy system change at community level. Findings are subdivided into five subsections, which include:

- Local awareness of initiatives promoting and opposing energy system change ٠
- Prominence of energy efficiency issues in working life •
- Foreseeing change in 20 years times
- Barriers towards implementing energy system change in the community •
- Channels of Communication •

5.1 Local awareness of initiatives promoting and opposing energy system change

Two survey questions were used to capture information pertaining to local awareness of initiatives promoting and opposing energy system change, the results are presented in Table 19 shows below.

		Promoting sustainability		Opposing sustainabili		
		Yes	No	Yes	No	
Dunmanway		8	12	9	1	
University student cohort		10	6	3	13	
Le Trepèze		9	6	4	11	
Vila de Gràcia		7	19	3	23	
Stockbridge		1	9	3	7	

Table 19: Awareness of initiatives promoting and opposing energy system change

Just under 60% of respondents stated that they were not aware of energy initiatives promoting sustainability. The no response rate increased significantly when respondents were asked about awareness of projects opposing sustainability. Just under 75% of respondents said that they were not aware of initiatives opposing energy sustainability. Looking at a breakdown in terms of community responses, stakeholders coming from the University student cohort and from the Le Trapèze community were the only two which had a higher proportion of stakeholders stating they were aware of initiatives promoting energy sustainability. There are specific community characteristics which contribute towards a greater awareness of initiatives promoting energy sustainability in these communities. The University Campus (University College Cork) was the first third level institution to be awarded a Green Flag, which is awarded internationally by the Foundation for Environmental Education. Le Trapèze is an emerging residential community which has been developed and promoted as an eco-neighbourhood



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



Notable as well is that fact that the Dunmanway community displayed the highest awareness of initiatives opposing energy system change. Again, this result is unsurprising if the context of recent energy developments in Dunmanway is considered where there was significant opposition to the development of wind farms in the locality. While the general lack of awareness identified in this survey was somewhat anticipated based on previous work carried out in these communities for WP3, they demonstrate that energy system change is often understood as something that happens elsewhere and is seldom readily identified at community level.

5.2 Prominence of energy efficiency in working life

Tables 20 and 21 offer a detailed account of the results pertaining to the prominent of energy efficiency issues for stakeholder and their clients.

	Very low	Low	Medium	High	Very High	Total
Architecture	0	0	1	0	3	4
Industry and manufacturing	0	1	0	0	1	2
Insurance	0	0	2	1	0	3
Other	0	1	0	2	3	6
Public sector	0	0	0	0	2	2
Real estate	0	2	2	0	1	5
Retail	0	0	1	12	2	15
Community sector	0	0	1	0	1	2
Construction	0	0	2	4	4	10
Education	0	2	6	4	3	15
Engineering	2	0	1	2	5	10
Farming	0	0	0	0	1	1
Finance & banking	1	1	1	2	2	7
Other services	1	1	0	0	1	3
Hospitality	1	0	0	1	1	3
Total	5	8	17	28	30	90

Table 20: Summary of results pertaining to prominence of energy issues for stakeholders

In general, the findings indicate that stakeholders consider energy efficiency to be of high or very high importance in their working life. Just under 15% of all respondents rated energy efficiency as being low or very low. Whereas 65% of all respondents said that energy efficiency was either high or very high. Looking at the different professional categories of the respondents, Retail has the highest scoring rates in this survey. While there are considerable limitations due to the small sample on which these results are based. Looking at the five categories most representative in the sample (*i.e.*, Retail, Construction, Engineering, Education





and Finance and Banking) holds the highest scores in terms of prominence of energy efficiency issues for stakeholders.

Differences can be found when respondents were asked about the prominence of energy efficiency issues for their clients. Rates of importance were perceived as much lower (see Table 21 below). In terms of very low and low rating for clients this stands at just over 25% while the very high and high rating is just under 40%. This indicates a substantial decrease in prominence of energy issues for clients as these have been perceived by local professional stakeholders. Again, stakeholders in retail stand out as the one's with the highest rating.

	Very low	Low	Medium	High	Very High	Total
Architecture	0	0	1	2	1	4
Industry and manufacturing	0	1	0	0	1	2
Insurance	0	1	1	1	0	3
Other	1	1	0	2	2	6
Public sector	0	0	0	1	0	2
Real estate	0	1	3	1	0	5
Retail	1	3	5	4	2	15
Community sector	1	0	0	1	0	2
Construction	0	2	4	2	2	10
Education	0	3	6	5	0	15
Engineering	3	0	3	2	2	10
Farming	0	0	0	0	1	1
Finance & banking	1	1	3	2	0	7
Other services	1	1	0	1	0	3
Hospitality	0	1	2	0	0	3
Total	8	15	28	24	11	90

Table 21: Summary of results pertaining to prominence of energy issues for clients

5.3 Foreseeing change

In order to capture a sense of whether energy system change is something that local community stakeholders foresee as forthcoming in the community context one specific question was asked which inquired if stakeholders anticipate change based on their professional experiences in the locality. The results show that overwhelmingly stakeholders expect change in the next twenty years. Over 70% of all respondents said that they anticipate energy system change, while only 10% said they expected no change and the remaining respondents said they didn't know.





There is little variation if the results are examined at community level. Only Vila de Gràcia shows greater disparity, with a marginally lower expectation of change at 60% and a much higher anticipation of no change at just under 20%, while the remainder respondents said they don't know.

5.4 Barriers towards implementing energy system change in the community

One of the most significant findings pertaining to this small survey looking at energy system change at community level pertains to the potential barriers towards implementing energy system change in the community. Respondents were given eight different options as to potential barriers and were asked to tick up to three of the factors, which they felt were most significant. (see Figure 3 below for summary of the findings). On average respondents ticked two options.

Lack of knowledge was the factor that stood out as the most significant barrier towards implementing change. Four out of the five communities surveyed rated lack of knowledge as the most significant factor. For the communities in Dunmanway and Le Trapèze this factor was particularly salient, while for the Stockbridge community infrastructural obstacles stood out at the most significant.

The three top rated barriers were lack of knowledge, infrastructural obstacle and lack of resources. A further analysis was carried out which looked at potential variations in these results in terms of the professional category of the respondents. Thus, results pertaining to the top three barriers were cross tabulated with the top five professional categories of the respondents. As Figure 4 below demonstrates the results of this analysis shows that stakeholders involved in the retail sector identified a lack of knowledge as the most significant barrier. Whereas, stakeholders in the construction sector were the top sector in terms of rating Infrastructural obstacles and lack of resources as potential barriers.





11

11

15

17

18

UCC Student Cohort

Vila de Gràcia



Le Trapèze

Dunmanway



Stockbridge



4 3 0 5 8 0 6 0

Summary of all Communities



Figure 3: Barriers towards implementing energy system change (number of responses by community)







Figure 4: Barriers towards implementing energy system change at community level (Overview)

5.5 Channels of communication

The final topic to be explored in this small survey pertaining to existing channels of communication for the community to participate and voice their ideas about the future of the energy system. As shows in figure x



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



below it is clear that all communities believe that there not enough channels of communication for communities to participate. Over 60% of all respondents believe existing channels of communication are not sufficient to allow for meaningful participation. Moreover, only 10% of respondents believe that existing channels of communication are adequate while 30% of respondents stated that they don't know.



Figure 5: Satisfaction with channels of communication

5.6 A strategy for community feedback mechanisms

Communication activities are extremely important and for this reason they require precise, meticulous and well-prepared outputs. The initial approach to research communication and sharing for instance can be problematic. Dalkir (2011) cautions against the common initial approach to inventory all available knowledge in order to create open access portals. While these appear to be valuable, Dalkir states that it is best to cater to the knowledge needs of specific groups of people. The best means to communicate research findings therefore involves offering a variety of different communication outputs. Each communication output developed should have a clear purpose and a target audience. In essence, it is necessary to take into account how different forms of knowledge may benefit different groups and create a strategy to communicate value to these targeted groups (Dalkir 2011). This initial needs-based assessment not just ensures that the right people obtain access to relevant information but that this is communicated in a way which maximises engagement with the information offered. Furthermore, consideration of language, content and use of appropriate and context specific examples will enrich the value of the material offered and their impact to specific groups. For instance, a policy brief and a community brief are different outputs in that they essentially aim to cater to the knowledge needs of different audiences. In the case of the policy brief attention to clear policy recommendations and impact should be offered whereas for a community brief it





could be the case that the value of local based issues should be enhanced and policy recommendations could be distilled to an understanding of how they might affect people locally.

The ENTRUST project field based communities constitute the targeted audience for this purpose. The six communities are:

- Dunmanway, Co. Cork, Ireland
- University student cohort, Cork City, Ireland •
- Stokebridge, Knowsley, UK •
- Secondigliano, Naples, Italy •
- Gràcia, Barcelona, Spain
- Le Trapèze, Paris, France •

In terms of developing feedback mechanisms in relation to ENTRUST findings pertaining to energy system transitions while there are very distinct community characteristics and knowledge needs there is an overarching knowledge gap which is common in all of these communities. This gap refers to the overall lack of critical engagement with Energy System Transitions. Findings from the local stakeholder survey reinforce this idea. In this survey, all communities identified lack of knowledge as a significant barrier towards energy system change. The survey also shows that many respondents believe that there are not enough channels of communication between the community and wider energy system change actors. Overall, ENTRUST research analysis has shown that while these communities have a general awareness of the kind of debates which are driving changes in the energy system in terms of climate change, peak oil issues and environmental degradation, this awareness is usually more superficial. Overall, the needs analysis highlights the fact that most communities lack a deeper involvement with energy that is linked to two critical dimensions, which are reflection and action (Bell et al. 2012). The ENTRUST strategy for community mechanisms is grounded on the need for promoting a 'conscientisation' process that seeks to foster deeper dialogue. This process entails linking energy transition debates with situated experiences and developing positive messages, which compel communities to reflection and action (Bell et al. 2012). This approach seeks to destabilize the notion that knowledge communication is a passive process by developing materials, which will provide communities with new paradigms grounded in the knowledge of their own localities. Conscientisation is therefore a critical component of the feedback strategies pertaining to energy system transitions with the six field based communities.

This strategy also entails the use of different communication channels. Initial feedback mechanism communication includes the development of two community research briefs. These materials aim to provide the communities with an overview of key ENTRUST research findings which highlight critical dimensions of energy system change pertinent to the context and experiences of these localities. These briefs and research feedback mechanism provide a synthesis of diverse experiences relating to energy, which take into account socio-economic and socio-demographic dimensions. Use of local media is being leveraged to enhance the reach of these research outputs.

The current interest and use of Web based technologies is a regarded as an important element for research dissemination. Web based technologies are varied and include in a broader sense the internet, web based



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



applications and web GIS platforms (Payakpate et al. 2008). In this context, dedicated online platforms can provide a means towards interacting with local stakeholders, students and academics. The ENTRUST Project has set in place a web based strategy which seeks to enhance community engagement and dissemination of findings. The development of a knowledge platform and the creation of content for the knowledge platform is a key component of this strategy. For example, the ENTRUST knowledge platform has developed a set of online 'gamification' tools to raise awareness and promote behaviour change towards energy sustainability across Europe. Gamification is a relatively new method for engaging with online users and entails applying elements of game playing (such as point scoring) to activities related to energy in order to pursue changes in behaviour toward the energy system. This tool has potential value in terms of enabling a wider community engagement with the energy system through the expanding broadband infrastructure incorporating deeper knowledge and active engagement with energy efficiency tools, energy simulations and the internet of things.

Conclusion 6

The report focused on expert feedback on community dialogues, this work significantly engages and expands research previously carried out for work packages 3, 5 and 6. Through a process which focuses on iterative and reflexive learning the report makes use of collaborative processes of engagement to enhance existing ENTRUST findings and strengthen community feedback mechanisms. While there are different elements to this report with distinct purposes, the common theme of enhancing energy transition pathways is observable across the different sections which make up this report.

The report identifies a rage of community energy innovation priorities in Section 3. This section builds on previous research carried out for Deliverables 6.1 (Morrissey, Axon, Aiesha, et al. 2017) and 6.3 (Morrissey, Axon, Hillman, et al. 2017). Offering a reflexive summary and discussion of the main findings from these two deliverables, the report also expands on these by adding to the existing research additional insights from 2 additional communities of practice. Namely, Gràcia and the University student cohort. The outcome of this process is the development of customised energy-policy recommendations which a collaborative and community based consideration of socio-demographics, economics and governance, technological and environmental resources and overarching policy context. For instance, rather than focus on transition as it may pertain to technology alone this section also looks at transition in terms of ideas and governance which allows for a multi-dimensional view of change.

The major contribution in this report has been the development of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition in Europe. The principles were originally developed from reflexive engagement with the core findings of work packages 3 and 6. These initial ideas were significantly refined and validated using a modified version of the Delphi-panel approach. Taking on board comments offered by a panel of interdisciplinary academics, the final iteration of the principles offered in Section 4 are the result of academic discourse and eventually consensus over how best to achieve equality and inclusion in terms of energy transition in Europe.

Making use of a mini-survey to engage with five communities in a European context a deeper understanding of how energy transitions are perceived in a community context was achieved. The survey results which are offered in Section 5, relay findings from engagement with local key stakeholders with close professional



Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



connections with the ENTRUST communities of practice (*i.e.*, Le Trapèze, Dunmanway, University students, Stockbridge and Vila de Gràcia). One of the core findings from this engagement pertains to identification of lack of knowledge as key barriers toward community participation in energy transitions. Based on these findings a refined strategy for community engagement was developed.

Finally, a strategy for feedback mechanisms with the ENTRUST communities of practice was developed. This strategy entails a range of ongoing plans that will allow for deeper and more meaningful interaction with the different communities. The initial approach includes a needs assessment, which considers how different knowledge and research outputs may be beneficial for these communities. Making use of findings from the survey highlighted above the strategy includes a 'conscientisation' component that seeks to develop a range of innovative and community specific messages, which prompt communities to understand and connect more fully with the implications of energy transitions at local level.

The different components of this report are relevant in terms of enhancing community based strategies and innovation strategies but they also offer a more universal contribution. The work developed in Section 3 for instance provides community specific innovation pathways which are policy relevance of these localities. On the other hand, the development of principles for a fair and inclusive energy transition have a potential to guide more generally the way that transitions projects are managed and developed and highlight the importance of developing energy systems which are mindful of equity and inclusion standards.





7 Bibliography

- An, R. *et al.*, 2017. Community partnerships in healthy eating and lifestyle promotion: A network analysis. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 6, pp.294–301.
- Aristeidou, M., Scanlon, E. & Sharples, M., 2017. Profiles of engagement in online communities of citizen science participation. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 74, pp.246–256.
- Austin, R., Hunter, B. & Hollywood, L., 2015. Computers in Human Behavior Supporting community cohesion through ICT: The epartners programme in Northern Ireland. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 52, pp.508–514.
- Avella, J.R., 2016. Delphi Panels : Research Design , Procedures , Advantages , and Challenges. International Journal of Doctoral Studies, 11, pp.305–321.
- Bauer, N. *et al.*, 2017. Shared Socio-Economic Pathways of the Energy Sector Quantifying the Narratives. *Global Environmental Change*, 42, pp.316–330.
- Bell, P. *et al.*, 2012. Universities as agents in the empowerment of local communities in Germany, Finland and Russia. In L. Goodson & J. Phillimore, eds. *Community research for participation: From theory to method*. Policy Press, pp. 89–104.
- Bird, S. & Hernández, D., 2012. Policy options for the split incentive: Increasing energy efficiency for low-income renters. *Energy Policy*, 48, pp.506–514.
- Cauchi-Santoro, R., 2016. Mapping community identity: Safeguarding the memories of a city's downtown core. *City, Culture and Society*, 7(1), pp.43–54.
- Chilvers, J. & Longhurst, N., 2016. Participation in Transition(s): Reconceiving Public Engagements in Energy Transitions as Co-Produced, Emergent and Diverse. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, 18(5), pp.585–607.
- Cornwall, A. & Jewkes, R., 1995. What is participatory research? *Social Science & Medicine*, 41(12), pp.1667–1676.
- Cundy, A.B. *et al.*, 2013. Developing principles of sustainability and stakeholder engagement for 'gentle' remediation approaches : The European context., 129, pp.283–291.
- Dalkey, N. & Helmer, O., 1963. An experimental application of the Delphi Method to the use of Experts. *Management Science*, 9(3), pp.458–467.
- Dalkir, K., 2011. Knowledge management in theory and practice second., Massachusetts: MIT press.
- Dunphy, N.P., Revez, A., Gaffney, C., Lennon, B., Ramis Aguilo, A., et al., 2017. Intersectional Analysis of Energy Practices. Deliverable 3.2 of the ENTRUST H2020 Project, Cork: University College Cork.
- Dunphy, N.P., Revez, A., Gaffney, C. & Lennon, B., 2017. *Intersectional Analysis of Perceptions and Attitudes Towards Energy Technologies. Deliverable 3.3 of the ENTRUST H2020 project.*, Cork: University College Cork.
- Dunphy, N.P., Revez, A., Gaffney, C., Lennon, B., Sanvicente, E., et al., 2017. Synthesis of socioeconomic, technical, market and policy analyses Deliverable 3.4 of the ENTRUST H2020 Project, Cork: University College Cork.
- Eubank, B.H. *et al.*, 2016. Using the modified Delphi method to establish clinical consensus for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with rotator cuff pathology. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16(56), pp.1–15.
- Fhlatharta, A.M.N. & Farrell, M., 2017. Unravelling the strands of ' patriarchy ' in rural innovation: A study of female innovators and their contribution to rural Connemara. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 54, pp.15–27.

Finsterbusch, K., 1976. Demonstrating the Value of Mini Surveys in Social Research. Sociological





Methods & Research, 5(1), pp.117–136.

Freire, P., 1970. *Pedagogy of the Oppressed*, New York: Herder & Herder.

- Gaffney, C. et al., 2017. Report on Community Dialogues. Deliverable 5.1 of the ENTRUST H2020 Project, Cork: University College Cork.
- Gerring, J., 2017. Qualitative Methods. Annual Review of Political Science, 20, pp.15–36.
- Groves, R. et al., 2009. Sample Methodology Second Edi., Hobeken: Wiley.
- Grübler, A., 2012. Energy transitions research: Insights and cautionary tales. *Energy Policy*, 50, pp.8–16.
- Hsu, C. & Sandford, B.A., 2007. The Delphi Technique: *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, 12(10), pp.1–8.
- Kerr, S., Johnson, K. & Weir, S., 2017. Understanding community benefit payments from renewable energy development. *Energy Policy*, 105(February), pp.202–211.
- Kriegler, E. *et al.*, 2017. Fossil-fueled development (SSP5): An energy and resource intensive scenario for the 21st century. *Global Environmental Change*, 42, pp.297–315.
- Lees, L. & Ferreri, M., 2016. Resisting gentrification on its final frontiers: Learning from the Heygate Estate in London (1974 2013). *Cities*, 57, pp.14–24.
- Macbeth, D., 2001. On 'Reflexivity' in Qualitative Research: Two Readings, and a Third. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 7(1), pp.35–68.
- Martiskainen, M., 2017. The role of community leadership in the development of grassroots innovations. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 22, pp.78–89.
- Miller, W.D., Pollack, C.E. & Williams, D.R., 2011. Healthy Homes and Communities. Putting the Pieces Together. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 40(1), pp.S48–S57.
- Moloney, S., Horne, R.E. & Fien, J., 2010. Transitioning to low carbon communities—from behaviour change to systemic change: Lessons from Australia. *Energy Policy*, 38(12), pp.7614–7623.
- Monast, J.J. & Adair, S.K., 2013. triple bottom line for electric utility regulation: Aligning state-level energy, environmental, and consumer protection goals. *Columbia Journal of Environmental Law*, 38(1), pp.1–66.
- Morrissey, J., Axon, S., Aiesha, R., *et al.*, 2017. *Energy system visioning and low-carbon configurations. Deliverable 6.1 of the ENTRUST H2020 project*, Cork: University College Cork.
- Morrissey, J., Axon, S., Hillman, J., et al., 2017. Innovation Pathways to Transition. Deliverable 6.3 of the ENTRUST H2020 project, Cork: University College Cork.
- Mulugetta, Y., Jackson, T. & van der Horst, D., 2010. Carbon reduction at community scale. *Energy Policy*, 38(12), pp.7541–7545.
- O'Neill, B.C. *et al.*, 2017. The roads ahead: Narratives for shared socioeconomic pathways describing world futures in the 21st century. *Global Environmental Change*, 42, pp.169–180.
- Opperman, K.J., Hanson, D.M. & Toro, P.A., 2017. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing Depression Screening at a Community Health Fair: Descriptives and Treatment Linkage. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 31(4), pp.365–367.
- Outhwaite, W., 1999. The Myth of Modernist Method. *European Journal of Social Theory*, 2(1), pp.5–25.
- Payakpate, J. *et al.*, 2008. Promoting knowledge on sustainable energy in digital ecosystem. *Digital Ecosystems and Technologies, 2008. DEST 2008. 2nd IEEE International Conference on.*
- Pediaditi, K., Doick, K.J. & Moffat, A.J., 2010. Landscape and Urban Planning Monitoring and evaluation practice for brownfield, regeneration to greenspace initiatives A meta-evaluation of assessment and monitoring tools., 97, pp.22–36.





- Riahi, K. *et al.*, 2017. The Shared Socioeconomic Pathways and their energy, land use, and greenhouse gas emissions implications: An overview. *Global Environmental Change*, 42, pp.153–168.
- Ringrose, P.S., 2017. Principles of sustainability and physics as a basis for the low-carbon energy transition., (2009), pp.0–10.
- Roberts, E. *et al.*, 2016. A review of the rural-digital policy agenda from a community resilience perspective. *Journal of Rural Studies*, In Press, pp.1–14.
- Seyfang, G. *et al.*, 2014. A grassroots sustainable energy niche? Reflections on community energy in the UK. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 13, pp.21–44.
- Srivastava, P. & Hopwood, N., 2009. A Practical Iterative Framework for Qualitative Data Analysis. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 8(1), pp.76–84.
- UN Global Compact, 2016. The UN Global Compact Ten Principles and the Sustainable Development Goals,
- van Vuuren, D.P. *et al.*, 2017. The Shared Socio-economic Pathways: Trajectories for human development and global environmental change. *Global Environmental Change*, 42, pp.148–152.
- Walker, G., 2008. What are the barriers and incentives for community-owned means of energy production and use ? \$., 36, pp.4401–4405.
- Wittmayer, J.M. & Schäpke, N., 2014. Action, research and participation: roles of researchers in sustainability transitions. *Sustainability Science*, 9(4), pp.483–496.





Appendix 1: Community pathways (Addendum to Deliverable 6.3)

The following work offers an overview of the community of Gràcia in Barcelona, Spain and the UCC student cohort in Cork City, Ireland, using the Shared Socio-economic Pathway (SSP) analytical framework. This framework highlights possible trajectories of change and development and adds to these further dimensions focused on socio-economic narratives. Applying this framework to access the background of these two communities the following sections provide an overview of the two profiled communities as well as highlighting where innovations are required. This work expands on the profiling carried out in Deliverable 6.3.

1. Gràcia Pathways

Table A: Overview of Count of all SSP Elements for Gràcia

Pathway	Count / 28 elements
SSP1: Sustainability	7
SSP2: Middle of the road	12
SSP3: Regional rivalry—A rocky road	1
SSP4: Inequality—A road divided	5
SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development—Taking the highway	3



Figure A: Profile of SSPs, Gràcia

As can be seen from Table B and Figure B below, the social / demographic pathway elements most in need of innovation and policy focus for Gracia include population growth and urbanisation. It is clear that high





rates of growth will need to be sustainably managed in the years to come. Sustainability pathway elements of social cohesion, societal participation, access to health facilities, water, sanitation and education are all evidenced for Gràcia for the social / demographic dimension.

······································				
Pathway Element	Local Description	Corresponding Pathway		
Population Growth	Relatively High	SSP4: Inequality—A road divided		
Migration	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road		
Urbanisation Level	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road		
Urbanisation Type	Mixed across community	SSP4: Inequality—A road divided		
Education	High	SSP1: Sustainability		
Health investments	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road		
Access to health facilities, water, sanitation	High	SSP1: Sustainability		
Gender equality	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road		
Equity	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road		
Social cohesion	High	SSP1: Sustainability		
Societal participation	High	SSP1: Sustainability		

Table B: Social / Demographic Pathway Element Characterisation - Gràcia



Figure B: Social / Demographic Pathway Element Characterisation - Gràcia

Demographically, there are a lot of families in the area with the population profile characterised in the majority by middle class professionals. Lots of middle-class European and White North Americans have settled in the area for work reasons. As a result, the neighbourhood around the urban core of Vila de Gràcia has been significantly gentrified in recent times. Population change can therefore be characterised as inward





migration related to gentrification processes. Post-crisis there has been lots of speculation on property in the area. The price of rent has increased by approx. 200 euro over the past 5-6 years. Ownership of property in Gràcia is concentrated in the possession of just a few landlords as a result of the economic crisis and historical patterns of bourgeois owners (and inheritance of these properties inter-generationally). The area has experience considerable property speculation with the knock-on impact of residents being pushed out of homes because of higher rent; at the same time, there has been a trend of landlords transforming flats for rent to tourists or to sell to investors.

In terms of the social environment, Gràcia has a left-wing local government with a social agenda on LGBT rights *etc.*, with the result that social issues are actively considered at local government level. The area is characterised by many social movements where people take action against issues such as gentrification *etc.* Tactics employed by these groups to date include occupation of community space; for example, a group of anarchists occupied an old bank, called 'Ex-propriado'. The area has lot of community collectives; collectives related to energy but also from cultural, traditional perspectives, historical groups *etc.* One part of Gràcia has a small community of Roma people. There are also lots of students, recent graduates and younger people who are struggling with rent, as are some retirees. The picture is therefore of smaller groups of poorer and disadvantaged people alongside the majority established community. Home ownership is a key determinant of engagement in carbon transitions debate in the area. There is a perception of a lack of agency amongst residents if they are not in-home ownership.

From Figure C and Figure C, economics / governance pathway elements most in need of innovation and policy focus include 'international trade and globalisation', 'policy orientation', 'institutions and consumption / diet'. As a wealthy community with a globalised economy, the wealth of the community may impede low carbon and sustainability focused initiatives if these were to undermine or threaten local income and economic well-being. Sustainability pathway elements of 'level of local control (subsidiarity)' and 'environmental policy' were identified in Gràcia for the economics / governance dimension.





Pathway Element	Local Description	Corresponding Pathway	
Growth (per capita)	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road	
Inequality	Uneven moderate reductions within community	SSP2: Middle of the road	
International trade	High, with regional specialisation in production	SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development— Taking the highway	
Globalization	Strongly globalised, increasingly connected	SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development— Taking the highway	
Consumption & Diet	Uneven consumption across social-strata	SSP4: Inequality—A road divided	
Environmental Policy	Improved management of local and global issues; tighter regulation of pollutants	SSP1: Sustainability	
Policy Orientation	Toward the benefit of the political and business elite	SSP4: Inequality—A road divided	
Institutions	Effective for political and business elite, not for rest of society	SSP4: Inequality—A road divided	
Level of Local Control (Subsidiarity)	High	SSP1: Sustainability	





Catalonia is the economic powerhouse of Spain, with strong international links. The local population has strong leaning towards 'eco' goods and services. Economic growth is being driven by local businesses, local markets etc. with tourism being very significant for the area. In recent times, lots of bigger franchises have started to take advantage of the local market model. Food/agri co-operatives with direct relations with farm producers, weekly food basket delivery, are popular. Gracia has a number of groups of people who have selforganised around environmental issues.





In the area, there is a general level of concern about global pollution. People are frustrated with their own inability to enact change, but there is evidence of a proliferation of grassroots initiatives against food waste, initiatives on food sharing *etc.* In Gràcia, noise is a prominent environmental issue, particularly from city-squares populated late at night. The office of energy assessment offers advice on energy use reduction. The Catalan Law 24-2015 initiative is related to dwellings and energy poverty; this law mandates that energy supply cannot be cut without due process. Broadly, the Spanish Government has a primary focus on economic develop. The local authority in Gràcia is left-wing in orientation. As a result, there is a complex local-regional-national political landscape. Gràcia evidences a 'municipalisation' of politics and a highly politically engaged citizenry; for example, there was a community driven project to establish an electric public-owned utility company - L'electrica Publica. When the local Council attempted to establish a new law on the use of public space, the neighbourhood organised to develop an alternative proposal and offered viable alternative, the '*Programme for Commercial Use*'.

From Table D and Figure D, technology / environment pathway elements most in need of innovation and policy focus include Carbon Intensity and Energy Intensity. Sustainability pathway elements identified in Gràcia for the technology / environment dimension include fossil constraints and a preference shift away from fossil fuels. These somewhat contradictory technology / environment pathway elements suggest a community with high energy use and current reliance on fossil fuels for energy generation. While there is community support for a shift away from fossil fuels, much work needs to be done on this aspect, remaining primarily aspirational for now.

Pathway Element	Local Description	Corresponding Pathway
Tech. Development	Medium, uneven	SSP2: Middle of the road
Technology Transfer	Medium, uneven	SSP2: Middle of the road
Energy Tech Change	Some investment in renewables but continued reliance on fossil fuels	SSP2: Middle of the road
Carbon Intensity	High	SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development
Energy Intensity	High	SSP3: Regional rivalry
Fossil Constraints	Preferences shift away from fossil fuels	SSP1: Sustainability
Environment	Continued degradation	SSP2: Middle of the road
Land Use	Medium regulations lead to slow decline in the rate of deforestation	SSP2: Middle of the road

Table D: Technology / Environment Pathway Element Characterisation - Gràcia







Figure D: Spider-diagram of technology / environment pathway characterisation - Gràcia

In Gràcia, the built environment is characterised by old buildings mixed with new construction. In the area, there is an affordability issue with RE technology accompanied by a lack of systematic policy efforts to foster wide-spread RE uptake. For example, there is an onerous and complicated processes for grant support. Information supports are poor for residents and successful grant acquisition requires considerable determination and proactive engagement on the part of residents. The local council have started to focus on building rehabilitation in community in recent years as an energy management priority; however, progress towards sustainability in terms of reduced energy use in buildings and RE deployment is slow. Primary energy supply still dominated by fossil fuels in the Spanish context. At the same time, the use of electricity is increasing, with *ca*. 15% increase in overall electricity use over the last 10 years. Regulation for the most part emanates from the EU level, with limited local and regional level initiatives. For Barcelona in general, overall environmental quality has not improved across parameters such as air quality and waste management, despite some initiatives vehicles². The city does have a strong planning regime but not necessarily with an environmental focus.

Summary of Gràcia innovation requirements:

Social / Demographic: Population Growth and Urbanisation

Economics / Governance: International trade and Globalisation, Policy Orientation, Institutions and Consumption/ Diet

Technology / Environment: Carbon Intensity and Energy Intensity

OVERARCHING POLICY CHALLENGE = LOW CARBON, SUSTAINABLE GROWTH & DECOUPLING

² Measures have been enacted on prohibiting cars into city, including limitations on petrol cars manufactured before 2000 and diesel cars manufactured before 2006; the city is progressively applying restrictions on vehicles without certification (DGT).





2. University student cohort pathways

Table E: Overview of Count of all SSP Elements for University student cohort

Pathway	Count / 28 elements
SSP1: Sustainability	10
SSP2: Middle of the road	7
SSP3: Regional rivalry—A rocky road	3
SSP4: Inequality—A road divided	3
SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development—Taking the highway	5



Figure E: Profile of SSPs, University students

From Table F and Figure F, the social / demographic Pathway Elements most in need of innovation and policy focus for the University student cohort include urbanisation level, urbanisation type and equity issues. Sustainability pathway elements of societal participation, Access to health facilities, water, sanitation, gender equality, education and population growth were identified for the University student cohort for the social / demographic dimension.

Pathway Element	Local Description	Corresponding Pathway
Population Growth	Relatively Low	SSP1: Sustainability
Migration	Low	SSP2: Middle of the road
Urbanisation Level	Low	SSP3: Regional rivalry—A rocky road
Urbanisation Type	Better mgmt. over time, some sprawl	SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development—Taking the highway

Table F: Social / demographic pathway element characterisation - University student cohort



ENTRUST Expert Feedback on Community Dialogue Outcomes



Education	High	SSP1: Sustainability
Health investments	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road
Access to health facilities, water, sanitation	High	SSP1: Sustainability
Gender equality	High	SSP1: Sustainability
Equity	Low	SSP3: Regional rivalry—A rocky road
Social cohesion	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road
Societal participation	High	SSP1: Sustainability



Table F: Spider-diagram of social / demographic pathway characterisation - University students

The University student cohort represents a unique community in the ENTRUST context. The community has been recruited from across the student body at University College Cork. This community is characterised by high participation rates, high rates of incoming students and student levels remaining constant/stable with slight increases over the medium term. Based on demographic data for Ireland, student numbers are unlikely to fall significantly in the coming years. For undergraduates, students starting in 1st year tend to be primarily from the Munster province in Ireland. The student community shows a very noteworthy increase in commuting from students from outside of the city. This increase in commuting can be attributed to the economic down-turn, cost of housing etc., with many students electing to remain at home with parents rather than navigate the high-cost housing market.

The general level of urban planning in Cork city has restricted sprawl and the worst excesses of 'Celtic Tiger' era development did not manifest in Cork city. The green belt around Cork city has mitigated against growth towards regional market towns from the city. Health and well-being of the University community are prioritised by the University with attendant monetary investment. Initiatives on this front include 'Meatless





Mondays', for instance, a student health centre on campus and state-of-the art University facilitates with attendant excellent sanitation etc. From a University systems perspective, there is universal equality at undergraduate level. There is equity of access issues for prospective students. Ireland has the 2nd highest University fees in the EU. Post-access to the University system, students face issues regarding varied ability to finance extra-curricular teaching support, certain support services and supports in general. Access to computers, books, travels opportunities, networks for opportunity etc. are characterised by socio-economic background. Students from less-privileged backgrounds are more likely to be in part-time or full-time employment. In general, social cohesion within the student group as a whole is relatively strong, characterised by a shared student identity. There are strong opportunities for student participation, including for example; student societies, student groups, informal friend networks, campus sports teams. The University campus is characterised by lots of 'collision spaces' for interaction, including library, catering venues, campus bars etc. From a student household perspective, a considerable percentage of the UCC student body comes from middle class relatively high-income families. The socio-economic profile of students can be closely linked with equity issues. Access to certain professions remains restricted to higher socio-economic groups, for instance. University is culturally a middle-class institution, inherent challenge for students from working class backgrounds (re: points of reference etc.)

From Table G and Figure G, economics / governance pathway elements most in need of innovation and policy focus include International trade, globalisation, policy orientation, institutions and consumption & diet. Sustainability pathway elements, of level of local control (subsidiarity) and environmental policy, were identified in University student cohort for the economics / governance dimension.

Pathway Element	Local Description	Corresponding Pathway	
Growth (per capita)	Medium	SSP2: Middle of the road	
Inequality	Uneven moderate reductions within community	SSP2: Middle of the road	
International trade	High, with regional specialisation in production	SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development—Taking the highway	
Globalization	Strongly globalised, increasingly connected	SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development—Taking the highway	
Consumption & Diet	Uneven consumption across social-strata	SSP4: Inequality—A road divided	
Environmental Policy	Improved management of local and global issues; tighter regulation of pollutants	SSP1: Sustainability	
Policy Orientation	Toward development, free markets, human capital	SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development—Taking the highway	
Institutions	Increasingly effective, oriented toward fostering competitive markets	SSP5: Fossil-fuelled development—Taking the highway	
Level of Local Control (Subsidiarity)	High	SSP1: Sustainability	

Table G: Economics /	governance pathway	element characterisation -	University s	tudent cohort
	80000 patrice patrice ,		•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	







Figure G: Spider-diagram of economics / governance pathway characterisation – University students

The wider economic picture in Ireland has shown strong growth in the post-recession era. University College Cork (UCC) has increasing numbers of international students, as well as increased links with China. The University's strong international links are developed from considerable research income and international collaboration initiatives and projects. Visiting students, lecturers and students from overseas, as well as a range of opportunities for overseas experience for the local student body mean that the UCC community (including staff and students) have a strong international outlook.

Material consumption likely to be highly influenced by socio-economic status of family for individual University students. On food, the University student cohort does not necessarily have an ecologically aware diet, with limited emphasis on environmental aspects of food. However, on campus food is locally produced and there are poly-tunnels on campus which produce food on-site. More broadly, students generally have low overheads and expenses, with disposable income directed to socialising, hobbies *etc.* UCC do provide strong leadership on green campus issues, including sustainability aspects. There is close involvement of student population with management on the campus sustainability agenda. UCC was the first green flag university world-wide as well as the first ISO 50001 certified University evidencing a strong degree of leadership from the host institution. The University has appointed a sustainability officer. Notwithstanding efforts on sustainability, policy orientation reflects the UCC mission, in turn dictated by Government policy. University governance takes account of student voice and most issues are devolved to local levels. Students have input and voice at various levels of governance and the UCC Student's Union is influential on campus.

From Table H and Figure H technology / environment pathway elements most in need of innovation and policy focus include 'energy technology change', 'carbon intensity and energy intensity'. Sustainability pathway elements identified in the University student cohort for the technology / environment dimension include 'fossil constraints', 'environment' and 'land use'.





Table H: Technology / environment pathway element characterisation - University student cohort

Pathway Element	Local Description	Corresponding Pathway	
Technology Development	Medium, uneven	SSP2: Middle of the road	
Technology Transfer	Medium, uneven	SSP2: Middle of the road	
Energy Tech Change	Diversified investments including efficiency and low-carbon sources	SSP4: Inequality—A road divided	
Carbon Intensity	Uneven	SSP3: Regional rivalry—A rocky road	
Energy Intensity	Medium	SSP4: Inequality—A road divided	
Fossil Constraints	Preferences shift away from fossil fuels	SSP1: Sustainability	
Environment	Improving conditions over time	SSP1: Sustainability	
Land Use	Strong regulations to avoid environmental trade-offs	SSP1: Sustainability	



Figure H: Spider-diagram of technology / environment pathway characterisation – University students

Across the University, energy conservation is an area of considerable focus. UCC has conducted world leading research on wave and tidal energy and is currently leading research on biogas as well as innovation on applying social sciences approaches to energy (*e.g.*, The ENTRUST project). There is ongoing expenditure on energy efficiency across the University campus. As a result, the University's energy consumption and the associated carbon footprint have reduced substantially over the last number of years, with UCC achieving energy conservations targets (set by central government) ahead of schedule.

Despite the slow rate of change, there is a demonstrated preference for a shift away from fossil fuels. The local environment shows improving conditions. University management have a focus on biodiversity on campus, for instance and the river Lee is seen as the centre of the campus. Initiatives such as shared bikes, park and ride as well as considerable green space ensure that the University has strong credentials as a





municipally responsible sustainability organisation. More broadly, the local environment is strongly regulated due to local council and strong University controls.

Summary of University student cohort innovation requirements:

- Social / demographic: Urbanisation Level, Urbanisation Type and Equity issues
- **Economics / governance**: International trade, Globalization, Policy Orientation, Institutions and Consumption & Diet
- Technology / environment: Energy Tech Change, Carbon Intensity and Energy Intensity

OVERARCHING POLICY CHALLENGE = LOW CARBON, SUSTAINABLE GROWTH & DECOUPLING





Appendix 2: Local stakeholder survey

Stakeholder views of energy transitions at community level

Thank you for taking part on this survey which seeks to capture information that will help promote energy system change at community level. Climate change and peak oil issues are compelling governments to take significant action towards securing alternative sources of energy and promoting a cleaner and more sustainable energy system. The main purpose of the survey is to assess the manner in which these changes are perceived and experienced at community level by key local stakeholders and professionals.

This survey is part of the ENTRUST research project led by University College Cork in Ireland.

The survey should only take no more than 4-5 minutes to complete and all the information is treated as confidential and anonymous according to academic guidelines.

1. With which community do you have the closest association? Please tick one

Dunmanway	Co	Cork
Dunnanway,	υU	COIK

- UCC campus, Cork City
- Le Trapeze, Paris
- Vila de Gracia, Barcelona

2. Your gender. Please tick one

- Female
 - Male
- 3. Your age. Please tick one
 - 18-24 25-44 45-64 65+
- 4. Professional practice sector. Please tick one
 - Education
 - **Finance and Banking**
 - Real estate
 - Insurance
 - Engineering
 - **Property Development**
 - Political representation
 - Construction
 - Engineering




- Other, please state____
- 5. How prominent are issues of energy efficiency and sustainability in your working life? *Please tick* one

L very Higr		Very	High
-------------	--	------	------

-] High
-] Medium
- Low
 - Very Low
- 6. How prominent are issues of energy efficiency and sustainability for your clients/customers? *Please tick one*



🗌 High

Medium

Low

Very Low

7. In your professional experience do you foresee significant changes within the next 20 years in the way energy is produced and consumed in your community? *Please tick one*

Yes
No

Don't know

8. Are you aware of any local initiatives to promote energy transitions and sustainability? *Please tick* one

Yes
No

9.a. If yes, could you please specify what type of initiatives?

- 9. Are you aware of any local opposition or resistance to energy system transition initiatives? *Please* tick one
 - 🗌 Yes

No





10.a. If yes, could you please specify what type of local resistance?

10.	In your system	professional experience, what are most significant barriers towards implementing energe change in your community? please select up to 3 options only
		Negative public perceptions
		Lack of knowledge
		Political apathy
		Infrastructural obstacles
		Lack of Resources
		Market factors
		Social and community factors
11.a 11.	a. Please	e add an additional comment on these barriers you chose:
11.a	. Please	e add an additional comment on these barriers you chose: opinion are there enough channels for the community to participate and voice their idea he future of the energy system? Yes
11.a	a. Please	e add an additional comment on these barriers you chose: